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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report, including information included in future filings by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), as well as information
contained in written material, press releases and oral statements issued by us or on our behalf, contain, or may contain, certain statements that are “forwardlooking statements” within the meaning of federal securities laws that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our
control. This report modifies and supersedes documents filed by us before this report. In addition, certain information that we file with the SEC in the future
will automatically update and supersede information contained in this report. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this report
regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are
forward-looking statements. When used in this report, the words “could,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project”, “will” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words.

Forward-looking statements may include statements about our business strategy, reserves, technology, financial strategy, oil and natural gas realized prices,
timing and amount of future production of oil and natural gas, the amount, nature and timing of capital expenditures, drilling of wells, competition and
government regulations, marketing of oil and natural gas, property acquisitions, costs of developing our properties and conducting other operations, general
economic conditions, uncertainty regarding our future operating results and plans, objectives, expectations and intentions contained in this report that are not
historical.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report, and, except as required by law, we do not intend to update any of these forwardlooking statements to reflect changes in events or circumstances that arise after the date of this report. You should not place undue reliance on these forwardlooking statements. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by the forward-looking statements we make in this
report are reasonable, we can give no assurance that these plans, intentions or expectations will be achieved. We disclose important factors that could cause our
actual results to differ materially from our expectations under “ Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report. These cautionary statements qualify all forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting
on our behalf.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE
On April 23, 2013 Petro River Oil Corp (the “ Company ”) acquired control of Petro River Oil, LLC (“ Petro”), an emerging oil and gas producer which controls
a substantial acreage position in the Southeast Kansas region of the Mississippi Lime formation. As a result of the acquisition of Petro, now a wholly-owned

subsidiary, the Company has added 115,000 gross/85,000 net acres to its Oil and Gas portfolio, establishing a significant presence in the promising
Mississippi Lime play. The Company also acquired over 60 square miles of proprietary 3D seismic data over prospective Mississippi Lime acreage in the
same area. When and if funding becomes available, the Company plans to develop these properties.
4
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Petro River Oil Corp (the “Company”) is an enterprise engaged in the exploration and exploitation of heavy oil properties. On September 7, 2012 a shareholder
meeting was held to amend the Articles of the Corporation to change the name of the Company from Gravis Oil Corporation to Petro River Oil Corp. The
Company’s principal administrative office is located in Houston, Texas and its principal operations are in Kansas and Western Missouri. Unless the context
otherwise requires, all references in this report to “Petro,” “our,” “us,” and “we” refer to Petro River Oil Corp.

Overview

The Company was originally incorporated under the Company Act (British Columbia) on February 8, 2000 under the name Brockton Capital Corp. The
Company then changed its name to MegaWest Energy Corp. effective February 27, 2010 before changing it to Gravis Oil Corp. on June 20, 2011. On
September 11, 2012, the Company re-organized under the laws of the State of Delaware as a corporation organized under the Delaware General Corporation
Law. Prior to September 11, 2012, and at April 30, 2012, the Company was organized under the laws of Alberta, Canada. This re-organization had no impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Petro River Oil LLC (“ Petro”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on March 3, 2011. Through proceeds received from the issuance of
various promissory notes, on February 1, 2012 Petro purchased various interests in oil and gas leases, wells, records, data and related personal property
located along the Mississippi Lime play in the state of Kansas from Metro Energy Corporation (“ Metro”), a Louisiana company and other interrelated entities,
which were in financial distress. These assets were purchased through a court approved order as Metro was undergoing Chapter 11 Bankruptcy proceedings

as a Debtor-In-Possession of these various oil and gas assets. Petro purchased these assets for cash considerations of $2,000,000 as well as a 25% nonmanaging membership interest in the company. Subsequent to the Metro purchase the company engaged Energy Source Advisors to renew a number of the
leases acquired in the Metro purchase and to lease additional acreage. As a result of the asset purchase from Metro and the completion of the additional lease
renewals and additional acreage purchases, the company obtained a total of 115,000 gross/85,000 net acres of leases, having unproven reserves at the time of
acquisition, in the Mississippi Lime play in Southeast Kansas for total cost of $12.2 million.
On April 23, 2013, the Company executed and consummated a securities purchase agreement by and among the Company, Petro, the holders of outstanding
secured promissory notes of Petro (the “ Notes”), and the members (the “ Petro Members ”) of Petro holding membership interests in Petro (the “ Membership
Interests”), and together with the Notes and the Membership Interests, the “ Acquired Securities ”) sold by the Company (the “ Securities Purchase Agreement ”
and the transaction, the “ Share Exchange ”).
In the Share Exchange, the Investors exchanged their Acquired Securities for 591,021,011 newly issued shares of common stock of the Company (“ Common
Stock”). As a result, upon completion of the Share Exchange, Petro became the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary. The existing shareholders of the
Company held 146,096,735 or 20% of the outstanding common shares prior to the reverse acquisition.

As a result of the Share Exchange, the Company acquired 100% of the member units of Petro and consequently, control of the business and operations of
Petro. Under generally accepted accounting principles in the Unites States, (“ U.S. GAAP ”) because Petro’s former members’ and note holders held 80% of the
issued and outstanding shares of the Company as a result of the Share Exchange, Petro is deemed the accounting acquirer while the Company remains the
legal acquirer and reporting entity. Petro adopted the fiscal year of the Company and its operations for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of
Operations) to April 30, 2012 were non material. Prior to the Share Exchange, all historical financial statements presented are those of Petro.

Strategy
Our business strategy is to acquire working interests in United States oil and gas producing areas. We believe such opportunities exist in the United States.
We also believe that these opportunities have considerable future potential for the development of proven oil and gas reserves. Such new reserves might come
from the development of existing but as yet undeveloped reserves as well as from future success in exploration.

5

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

When and if funding becomes available, we plan to acquire high-quality oil and gas properties, primarily “proved producing and proved undeveloped
reserves.” We will also explore low-risk development drilling and work-over opportunities.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environment. We compete with major and independent oil and natural gas companies, many of whom have financial and
other resources substantially in excess of those available to us. These competitors may be better positioned to take advantage of industry opportunities and to
withstand changes affecting the industry, such as fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices and production, the availability of alternative energy sources and
the application of government regulation.
Compliance with Government Regulation

The availability of a ready market for future oil and gas production from possible U.S. assets depends upon numerous factors beyond our control. These
factors may include, amongst others, regulation of oil and natural gas production, regulations governing environmental quality and pollution control, and the
effects of regulation on the amount of oil and natural gas available for sale, the availability of adequate pipeline and other transportation and processing
facilities and the marketing of competitive fuels. These regulations generally are intended to prevent waste of oil and natural gas and control contamination of
the environment.

We expect that our sales of crude oil and other hydrocarbon liquids from our future U.S.-based production will not be regulated and will be made at market
prices. However, the price we would receive from the sale of these products may be affected by the cost of transporting the products to market via pipeline.
Environmental Regulations
Our U.S. assets are subject to numerous laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental
protection. These laws and regulations may require the acquisition of a permit before drilling commences, restrict the types, quantities and concentration of
various substances that can be released into the environment in connection with drilling and production activities, limit or prohibit drilling activities on certain
lands within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas, require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former operations, such as pit closure and
plugging abandoned wells, and impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from production and drilling operations. Public interest in the protection of
the environment has increased dramatically in recent years. The worldwide trend of more expansive and stricter environmental legislation and regulations
applied to the oil and natural gas industry could continue, resulting in increased costs of doing business and consequently affecting profitability. To the extent

laws are enacted or other governmental action is taken that restricts drilling or imposes more stringent and costly waste handling, disposal and cleanup
requirements, our business and prospects could be adversely affected.
Operating Hazards and Insurance

The oil and natural gas business involves a variety of operating hazards and risks such as well blowouts, craterings, pipe failures, casing collapse,
explosions, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids, fires, formations with abnormal pressures, pipeline ruptures or spills, pollution, releases of
toxic gas and other environmental hazards and risks. These hazards and risks could result in substantial losses to us from, among other things, injury or
loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property, natural resources and equipment, pollution or other environmental damage, clean-up responsibilities,
regulatory investigation and penalties and suspension of operations.
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In accordance with customary industry practices, we expect to maintain insurance against some, but not all, of such risks and losses. There can be no
assurance that any insurance we obtain would be adequate to cover any losses or liabilities. We cannot predict the continued availability of insurance or the
availability of insurance at premium levels that justify its purchase. The occurrence of a significant event not fully insured or indemnified against could
materially and adversely affect our financial condition and operations.

Pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable. The occurrence of an event not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse
effect on our future financial condition. If we were unable to obtain adequate insurance, we could be forced to participate in all of our activities on a nonoperated basis, which would limit our ability to control the risks associated with oil and natural gas operations.

Research and Development
We do not currently, and did not previously, have any research and development policies in place. Over the past two fiscal years, no funds were expended by
our company on research and development activities.

Employees
At April 30, 2013 we employed 5 employees, 1 of which was a full-time employee.

Geographical Area of the Company’s Business
The principal market that we compete in is the North American energy market, specifically the North American oil market.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information set forth in this Report, in connection with any investment
decision regarding shares of our common stock. Each of these risk factors could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition, as
well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our common stock. Some information in this Report may contain “forward-looking” statements that
discuss future expectations of our financial condition and results of operation. The risk factors noted in this section and other factors could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

If we are unable to obtain additional funding our business operations will be harmed and if we do obtain additional financing our then existing
shareholders may suffer substantial dilution.
We will require additional capital to continue to operate our business and to further expand our exploration and development programs. We may be unable to
obtain additional capital required. Furthermore, inability to maintain capital may damage our reputation and credibility with industry participants. Our
inability to raise additional funds when required may have a negative impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

Future acquisitions and future exploration, development, production, leasing activities and marketing activities, as well as our administrative requirements
(such as salaries, insurance expenses and general overhead expenses, as well as legal compliance costs and accounting expenses) will require a substantial
amount of additional capital and cash flow.
We plan to pursue sources of additional capital through various financing transactions or arrangements, including joint venturing of projects, debt financing,
equity financing or other means. We may not be successful in locating suitable financing transactions in the time period required or at all, and we may not
obtain the capital we require by other means. This may adversely affect our consolidated financial results, financial condition and ability to continue as a
going concern.

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity will likely dilute your ownership percentage. This could also result in a decrease in the fair market
value of our equity securities because our assets would be owned by a larger pool of outstanding equity. The terms of securities we issue in future capital
transactions may be more favorable to our new investors, and may include preferences, superior voting rights and the issuance of warrants or other derivative
securities, and issuances of incentive awards under equity employee incentive plans, which may have a further dilutive effect.
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Our ability to obtain needed financing may be impaired by such factors as the capital markets (both generally and in the oil and gas industry in particular),
our status as a new enterprise without a significant demonstrated operating history, the location of our oil and natural gas properties and prices of oil and
natural gas on the commodities markets (which will impact the amount of asset-based financing available to us) and/or the loss of key management. Further,
if oil and/or natural gas prices on the commodities markets decrease, then our revenues will likely decrease, and such decreased revenues may increase our
requirements for capital. If the amount of capital we are able to raise from financing activities, together with our revenues from operations, is not sufficient to
satisfy our capital needs (even to the extent that we reduce our operations), we may be required to cease our operations.
We may incur substantial costs in pursuing future capital financing, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, securities law compliance
fees, printing and distribution expenses and other costs. We may also be required to recognize non-cash expenses in connection with certain securities we may
issue, such as convertible notes and warrants, which may adversely impact our consolidated financial results.

We have a history of losses which may continue, which may negatively impact our ability to achieve our business objectives and continue as a
going concern.
We incurred net losses of $2,319,734 and $1,915,617 for the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 and for the period February 2, 2012 (date of
commencement of operations) to December 31, 2012, respectively. To date, we have acquired interests in oil and gas properties, but have not established a
project on any of our properties that generates commercial revenues. We cannot assure you that we can achieve or sustain profitability on a quarterly or annual
basis in the future. Our operations are subject to the risks and competition inherent in the establishment of a business enterprise. There can be no assurance

that future operations will be profitable. Revenues and profits, if any, will depend upon various factors, including whether we will be able to continue
expansion of our revenue. We may not achieve our business objectives and the failure to achieve such goals would have an adverse impact on us.

As our Kansas, Missouri, and Montana properties are in early stages of development, we may not be able to establish commercial reserves on these projects.
Exploration for commercial reserves of oil is subject to a number of risk factors. Few of the prospects that are explored are ultimately developed into producing
oil and/or gas fields. To April 30, 2013, only a portion of the reserves associated with the Missouri Marmaton River and Grassy Creek projects are classified
as developed and production activities have been suspended since September 2011. Management continues to seek funding so that the Company can consider
future development of its heavy oil properties. We may not be able to establish commercial reserves and it is therefore considered to be an exploration stage
company.

We have a limited operating history and if we are not successful in continuing to grow our business, then we may have to scale back or even cease
our ongoing business operations.
We have received a limited amount of revenues from operations and have limited assets. To date, we have acquired interests in oil and gas properties, but have
not established a project on any of our properties that generates commercial revenues and there can be no assurance that we will ever operate profitably. We

have a limited operating history. Our success is significantly dependent on a successful acquisition, drilling, completion and production program. Our
operations will be subject to all the risks inherent in the establishment of a developing enterprise and the uncertainties arising from the absence of a significant
operating history. We may be unable to locate recoverable reserves or operate on a profitable basis. We are in the exploration stage and potential investors should
be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by enterprises in the exploration stage. If our business plan is not successful, and we are not able to operate
profitably, investors may lose some or all of their investment.
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Because we are small and do not have much capital, we may have to limit our exploration activity which may result in a loss of your investment.
Because we are small and do not have much capital, we must limit our exploration activity. As such we may not be able to complete an exploration program
that is as thorough as we would like. In that event, existing reserves may go undiscovered. Without finding reserves, we cannot generate revenues and you will
lose your investment.

We had cash and cash equivalents at April 30, 2013 of $5,703,082, as compared to $6,472,094 at December 31, 2012. At April 30, 2013, we had a working
capital of approximately $4.7 million. Management believes that the current level of working capital is sufficient to maintain operations for the next 12 months.
Management intends to continue to raise capital through debt and equity instruments.

Strategic relationships upon which we may rely are subject to change, which may diminish our ability to conduct our operations.
Our ability to successfully acquire additional properties, to discover reserves, to participate in drilling opportunities and to identify and enter into commercial
arrangements with customers will depend on developing and maintaining close working relationships with industry participants and on our ability to select
and evaluate suitable properties and to consummate transactions in a highly competitive environment. These realities are subject to change and may impair our
ability to grow.

To develop our business, we will endeavor to use the business relationships of our management to enter into strategic relationships, which may take the form
of joint ventures with other private parties and contractual arrangements with other oil and gas companies, including those that supply equipment and other
resources that we will use in our business. We may not be able to establish these strategic relationships, or if established, we may not be able to maintain them.
In addition, the dynamics of our relationships with strategic partners may require us to incur expenses or undertake activities we would not otherwise be
inclined to in order to fulfill our obligations to these partners or maintain our relationships. If our strategic relationships are not established or maintained, our
business prospects may be limited, which could diminish our ability to conduct our operations.

Although our estimated natural gas and oil reserve data has been prepared by an independent third party, the estimates may prove to be
inaccurate.
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of oil and natural gas reserves and the future cash flows attributed to such reserves. In
general, estimates of economically recoverable oil and natural gas reserves and the future net cash flows therefrom are based upon a number of variable factors
and assumptions, such as historical production from the properties, production rates, ultimate reserve recovery, timing and amount of capital expenditure,
marketability of oil and gas, royalty rates, the assumed effects of regulation by governmental agencies and future operating costs, all of which may vary
materially from actual results. For those reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable oil and natural gas reserves attributable to any particular group of
properties, classification of such reserves based on risk of recovery and estimates of future net revenues associated with reserves prepared by different
engineers, or by the same engineers at different times, may vary. Our actual production, revenues, taxes and development and operating expenditures with
respect to our reserves will vary from estimates thereof and such variations could be material.

Our results of operations as well as the carrying value of our oil and gas properties are substantially dependent upon the prices of oil and natural
gas, which historically have been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile.
Our results of operations and the ceiling on the carrying value of our oil and gas properties are dependent on the estimated present value of proved reserves,
which depends on the prevailing prices for oil and gas, which are and are likely to continue to be volatile. Recent world events have significantly increased oil
and gas prices, but we cannot assure that such prices will continue. Various factors beyond our control affect prices of oil and natural gas, including political
and economic conditions; worldwide and domestic supplies of and demand for oil and gas; weather conditions; the ability of the members of the Organization
of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree on and maintain price and production controls; political instability or armed conflict in oil-producing regions; the
price of foreign imports; the level of consumer demand; the price and availability of alternative fuels; and changes in existing federal and state regulations.
Current prices for oil are at or near historical highs, and any significant decline in oil or gas prices could have a material adverse effect on our operations,
financial condition, and level of development and exploration expenditures and could result in a reduction in the carrying value of our oil and gas properties.
Any decline in prices would cause a reduction in the amount of any reserves and, in turn, in the amount that we might be able to borrow to fund development
and acquisition activities. To date, we do not believe that the lack of reserves has hindered our efforts to obtain the capital we have sought.
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Fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices, which have been volatile at times, may adversely affect our revenues as well as our ability to borrow
money, repay future indebtedness and obtain additional capital.

Our future financial condition, access to capital, cash flows and results of operations depend upon the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas.
Historically, oil and natural gas prices have been volatile and are subject to fluctuations in response to changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and
a variety of additional factors that are beyond our control. Factors that affect the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas include:

●

the level of domestic production;

●

the availability of imported oil and natural gas;

●

political and economic conditions and events in foreign oil and natural gas producing nations, including embargoes, continued hostilities in the
Middle East and other sustained military campaigns, and acts of terrorism or sabotage;

●

the ability of members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and maintain oil price and production controls;

●

the cost and availability of transportation and pipeline systems with adequate capacity;

●

the cost and availability of other competitive fuels;

●

fluctuating and seasonal demand for oil, natural gas and refined products;

●

concerns about global warming or other conservation initiatives and the extent of governmental price controls and regulation of production;

●

weather;

●

foreign and domestic government relations; and

●

overall economic conditions, particularly the recent worldwide economic slowdown which has put downward pressure on oil and natural gas prices

and demand.
In the past, prices of oil and natural gas have been extremely volatile, and we expect this volatility to continue. Our revenues, cash flow and profitability and
our ability to borrow money, to repay future indebtedness and to obtain additional capital depend substantially upon oil and natural gas prices.

We face significant competition, and many of our competitors have resources in excess of our available resources.
The oil and gas industry is highly competitive. We encounter competition from other oil and gas companies in all areas of our operations, including the
acquisition of producing properties and exploratory prospects and sale of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids. Our competitors include major
integrated oil and gas companies and numerous independent oil and gas companies, individuals and drilling and income programs. Many of our competitors
are large, well established companies with substantially larger operating staffs and greater capital resources than us. Such companies may be able to pay more
for productive oil and gas properties and exploratory prospects and to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties and prospects than
our financial or human resources permit. Our ability to acquire additional properties and to discover reserves in the future will depend upon our ability to
evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate transactions in this highly competitive environment.
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Exploratory drilling is a speculative activity that may not result in commercially productive reserves and may require expenditures in excess of
budgeted amounts.
Drilling activities are subject to many risks, including the risk that no commercially productive oil or gas reservoirs will be encountered. There can be no
assurance that new wells drilled by us or in which we have an interest will be productive or that we will recover all or any portion of our investment. Drilling
for oil and gas may involve unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, but also from wells that are productive but do not produce sufficient net revenues to
return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs. The cost of drilling, completing and operating wells is often uncertain. Our drilling operations may be
curtailed, delayed or canceled as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including economic conditions, mechanical problems,
pressure or irregularities in formations, title problems, weather conditions, compliance with governmental requirements and shortages in or delays in the
delivery of equipment and services. Such equipment shortages and delays sometimes involve drilling rigs where inclement weather prohibits the movement of
land rigs causing a high demand for rigs by a large number of companies during a relatively short period of time. Our future drilling activities may not be
successful. Lack of drilling success could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Our operations are also subject to all of the hazards and risks normally incident to the development, exploitation, production and transportation of, and the
exploration for, oil and gas, including unusual or unexpected geologic formations, pressures, down hole fires, mechanical failures, blowouts, explosions,
uncontrollable flows of oil, gas or well fluids and pollution and other environmental risks. These hazards could result in substantial losses to us due to injury
and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, pollution and other environmental damage and suspension of operations.
Insurance for wells in which we participate is generally obtained, although there can be no assurances that such coverage will be sufficient to prevent a material
adverse effect to us if any of the foregoing events occur.

We may not identify all risks associated with the acquisition of oil and natural gas properties, or existing wells, and any indemnifications we
receive from sellers may be insufficient to protect us from such risks, which may result in unexpected liabilities and costs to us.
Our business strategy focuses on acquisitions of undeveloped and unproven oil and natural gas properties that we believe are capable of production. We may
make additional acquisitions of undeveloped oil and gas properties from time to time, subject to available resources. Any future acquisitions will require an
assessment of recoverable reserves, title, future oil and natural gas prices, operating costs, potential environmental hazards, potential tax and other liabilities
and other factors.
Generally, it is not feasible for us to review in detail every individual property involved in a potential acquisition. In making acquisitions, we generally focus
most of our title and valuation efforts on the properties that we believe to be more significant, or of higher-value. Even a detailed review of properties and
records may not reveal all existing or potential problems, nor would it permit us to become sufficiently familiar with the properties to assess fully their
deficiencies and capabilities. In addition, we do not inspect in detail every well that we acquire. Potential problems, such as deficiencies in the mechanical
integrity of equipment or environmental conditions that may require significant remedial expenditures, are not necessarily observable even when we perform a
detailed inspection. Any unidentified problems could result in material liabilities and costs that negatively impact our financial condition and results of
operations.

Even if we are able to identify problems with an acquisition, the seller may be unwilling or unable to provide effective contractual protection or indemnity
against all or part of these problems. Even if a seller agrees to provide indemnity, the indemnity may not be fully enforceable or may be limited by floors and
caps, and the financial wherewithal of such seller may significantly limit our ability to recover our costs and expenses. Any limitation on our ability to recover
the costs related any potential problem could materially impact our financial condition and results of operations.
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We have a history of operating losses and we may not become profitable. If we are not able to achieve and maintain profitability in the future, we
might not be able to access funds through debt or equity financings.
Historically, we have funded our operating losses, acquisitions and drilling costs primarily through a combination of private offerings of debt and equity
securities. Our success in obtaining the necessary capital resources to fund future costs associated with our operations and drilling plans is dependent upon
our ability to: (i) increase revenues through acquisitions and recovery of our proved producing and proved developed non-producing oil and gas reserves; and
(ii) obtain additional financing. However, even if we achieve some success with our plans, there can be no assurance that we will be able to generate sufficient
revenues to achieve significant profitable operations or to fund our drilling plans.

We are subject to uncertainties in reserve estimates and future net cash flows.
This report contains estimates of our oil and gas reserves and the expected future net cash flows from those reserves, most of which have been prepared by an
independent petroleum consultant. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of reserves of oil and gas and in projecting future rates of
production and the timing of development expenditures, including many factors beyond our control. The reserve estimates in this report are based on various
assumptions, including, for example, constant oil and gas prices, operating expenses, capital expenditures and the availability of funds, and, therefore, are
inherently imprecise indications of future net cash flows. Actual future production, cash flows, taxes, operating expenses, development expenditures and
quantities of recoverable oil and gas reserves may vary substantially from those assumed in the estimates. Any significant variance in these assumptions
could materially affect the estimated quantity and value of reserves set forth in this report. Additionally, our reserves may be subject to downward or upward
revision based upon actual production performance, results of future development and exploration, prevailing oil and gas prices and other factors, many of
which are beyond our control.

The present value of future net reserves discounted at 10% (the “PV-10”) of proved reserves referred to in this report should not be construed as the current
market value of the estimated proved reserves of oil and gas attributable to our properties. In accordance with applicable requirements of the SEC, the
estimated discounted future net cash flows from proved reserves are based on an average price of the first day of each month of the last 12 months and a
differential of the price per Mcf received by us, and costs as of the date of the estimate, whereas actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or
lower. Actual future net cash flows also will be affected by: (i) the timing of both production and related expenses; (ii) changes in consumption levels; and (iii)
governmental regulations or taxation. In addition, the calculation of the present value of the future net cash flows using a 10% discount as required by the SEC
is not necessarily the most appropriate discount factor based on interest rates in effect from time to time and risks associated with our reserves or the oil and
gas industry in general. Furthermore, our reserves may be subject to downward or upward revision based upon actual production, results of future
development, supply and demand for oil and gas, prevailing oil and gas prices and other factors. See “ Item 2. Properties – Oil and Natural Gas Reserves .”

We are/will be subject to various operating and other casualty risks that could result in liability exposure or the loss of production and revenues.

Our oil and gas business involves/(will involve as operations activities increase) a variety of operating risks, including, but not limited to, unexpected
formations or pressures, uncontrollable flows of oil, gas, brine or well fluids into the environment (including groundwater contamination), blowouts, fires,
explosions, pollution and other risks, any of which could result in personal injuries, loss of life, damage to properties and substantial losses. Although we
carry insurance at levels that we believe are reasonable, we are not fully insured against all risks. We do not carry business interruption insurance. Losses and
liabilities arising from uninsured or under-insured events could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.

The cost of operating wells is often uncertain. Our drilling operations may be curtailed, delayed or canceled as a result of numerous factors, including title
problems, weather conditions, compliance with governmental requirements and shortages or delays in the delivery of equipment. Furthermore, completion of a
well does not assure a profit on the investment or a recovery of drilling, completion and operating costs.
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The liquidity, market price and volume of our stock are volatile.
Our common stock is not traded on any exchange, but is currently quoted on the U.S. OTC Markets. The liquidity of our common stock may be adversely
affected, and purchasers of our common stock may have difficulty selling our common stock, particularly if our common stock does not continue to be
quoted on the U.S. OTC Markets on another recognized quotation services or exchange.

The trading price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to quarter-to-quarter variations in our operating results,
announcements of our drilling results and other events or factors. In addition, the U.S. stock markets have from time to time experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations that have affected the market price for many companies and which often have been unrelated to the operating performance of these
companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our securities.

Our stock is categorized as a penny stock. Trading of our stock may be restricted by the SEC’s penny stock regulations which may limit a
stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.
Our stock is categorized as a “penny stock.” The SEC has adopted Rule 15g-9 which generally defines “penny stock” to be any equity security that has a
market price (as defined) less than $5.00 per share or an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. Our securities are covered by
the penny stock rules, which impose additional sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell to persons other than established customers and
accredited investors. The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a
standardized risk disclosure document in a form prepared by the SEC which provides information about penny stocks and the nature and level of risks in the
penny stock market. The broker-dealer also must provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the
broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction and monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held in the customer’s
account. The bid and offer quotations, and the broker-dealer and salesperson compensation information, must be given to the customer orally or in writing
prior to effecting the transaction and must be given to the customer in writing before or with the customer’s confirmation. In addition, the penny stock rules
require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from these rules, the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the
penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written agreement to the transaction. These disclosure requirements may
have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity in the secondary market for the stock that is subject to these penny stock rules. Consequently, these
penny stock rules may affect the ability of broker-dealers to trade our securities. We believe that the penny stock rules discourage investor interest in and limit
the marketability of our common stock.

FINRA sales practice requirements may also limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.

In addition to the “penny stock” rules described above, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“ FINRA”) has adopted rules that require that in
recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior
to recommending speculative low priced securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information
about the customer’s financial status, tax status, investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is
a high probability that speculative low priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. The FINRA requirements make it more difficult for
broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our common stock, which may limit your ability to buy and sell our stock and have an adverse effect
on the market for our shares.

Our internal controls over financial reporting have determined to not be effective, which could have a significant and adverse effect on our
business.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations of the SEC, which we collectively refer to as “Section 404,” require us to
evaluate our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report on those internal controls as of the end of each year. Effective internal
controls are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important in our effort to prevent financial fraud. In the course of our Section 404

evaluations, we have identified conditions that resulted in significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and we have concluded that enhancements,
modifications or changes to our internal controls are necessary or desirable. Implementing any such matters would divert the attention of our management,
could involve significant costs, and may negatively impact our results of operations.
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We note that there are inherent limitations on the effectiveness of internal controls, as they cannot prevent collusion, management override or failure of human
judgment. If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls or if management or our independent registered public accounting firm were to discover

material weaknesses in our internal controls, we may be unable to produce reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial
condition and results of operations, result in a loss of investor confidence and negatively impact our share price.

We may not have satisfactory title or rights to all of our current or future properties.
Prior to acquiring undeveloped properties, our contract land professionals review title records or other title review materials relating to substantially all of such
properties. The title investigation performed by us prior to acquiring undeveloped properties is thorough, but less rigorous than that conducted prior to drilling,
consistent with industry standards. Prior to drilling we obtain a title opinion on the drill site. However, a title opinion does not necessarily ensure satisfactory

title. We believe we have satisfactory title to our producing properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the oil and gas industry. Our
properties are subject to customary royalty interests, liens incident to operating agreements, liens for current taxes and other burdens, which we believe do not
materially interfere with the use of or affect the value of such properties. In the normal course of our business, title defects and lease issues of varying degrees
arise, and, if practicable, reasonable efforts are made to cure such defects and issues.

Governmental regulations could adversely affect our business.
Our business is subject to certain federal, state and local laws and regulations on taxation, the exploration for, and development, production and marketing of,
oil and natural gas, and environmental and safety matters. Many laws and regulations require drilling permits and govern the spacing of wells, rates of

production, prevention of waste and other matters. These laws and regulations have increased the costs of our operations. In addition, these laws and
regulations, and any others that are passed by the jurisdictions where we have production, could limit the total number of wells drilled or the allowable
production from successful wells, which could limit our revenues.

Laws and regulations relating to our business frequently change, and future laws and regulations, including changes to existing laws and
regulations, could adversely affect our business.
In particular and without limiting the foregoing, various tax proposals currently under consideration could result in an increase and acceleration of the payment
of federal income taxes assessed against independent oil and natural gas producers, for example by eliminating the ability to expense intangible drilling costs,
removing the percentage depletion allowance and increasing the amortization period for geological and geophysical expenses. Any of these changes would
increase our tax burden.

All states in which the Company owns leases require permits for drilling operations, drilling bonds and reports concerning operations and impose other
requirements relating to the exploration for and production of oil and gas. Such states also have statutes or regulations addressing conservation matters,
including provisions for the unitization or pooling of oil and gas properties, the establishment of maximum rates of production from wells and the regulation of
spacing, plugging and abandonment of such wells. The statutes and regulations of these states limit the rate at which oil and gas can be produced from our
properties. However, we do not believe we will be affected materially differently by these statutes and regulations than any other similarly situated oil and gas
company.
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Environmental liabilities could adversely affect our business.
In the event of a release of oil, natural gas or other pollutants from our operations into the environment, we could incur liability for any and all consequences of
such release, including personal injuries, property damage, cleanup costs and governmental fines. We could potentially discharge these materials into the
environment in several ways, including:

●

from a well or drilling equipment at a drill site;

●

leakage from gathering systems, pipelines, transportation facilities and storage tanks;

●

damage to oil and natural gas wells resulting from accidents during normal operations; and

●

blowouts, cratering and explosions.

In addition, because we may acquire interests in properties that have been operated in the past by others, we may be liable for environmental damage,
including historical contamination, caused by such former operators. Additional liabilities could also arise from continuing violations or contamination that we
have not yet discovered relating to the acquired properties or any of our other properties.
To the extent we incur any environmental liabilities, it could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.

Climate change legislation, regulation and litigation could materially adversely affect us.
There is an increased focus by local, state and national regulatory bodies on greenhouse gas (“ GHG”) emissions and climate change. Various regulatory bodies
have announced their intent to regulate GHG emissions, including the United States Environmental Protection Agency, which promulgated several GHG
regulations in 2010 and late 2009. As these regulations are under development or are being challenged in the courts, we are unable to predict the total impact of

these potential regulations upon our business, and it is possible that we could face increases in operating costs in order to comply with GHG emission
legislation.

Passage of legislation or regulations that regulate or restrict emissions of GHG, or GHG-related litigation instituted against us, could result in direct costs to us
and could also result in changes to the consumption and demand for natural gas and carbon dioxide produced from our oil and natural gas properties, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and prospects.

We may be responsible for additional costs in connection with abandonment of properties.
We are responsible for payment of plugging and abandonment costs on our oil and gas properties pro rata to our working interest. There can be no assurance
that we will be successful in avoiding additional expenses in connection with the abandonment of any of our properties. In addition, abandonment costs and
their timing may change due to many factors, including actual production results, inflation rates and changes in environmental laws and regulations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Kansas
The Company has 115,000 gross/85,000 net acres in the Mississippi Lime play. The Company also acquired over 60 square miles of proprietary 3D seismic
data over prospective Mississippi Lime acreage in the same area.

The acquisition of the Mississippi Lime play oil and gas assets for $12.2 million, consists of a 100% interest in 120 oil and gas leases which cover
approximately 85,000 gross mineral acres located in various counties in the state of Kansas.
As of April 30, 2013, management concluded that an impairment was not necessary since the assets were recently purchased and held at cost.
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Missouri
At April 30, 2013, the Company’s Missouri lease holdings totaled 22,832 gross acres with a 98.4% working interest.

On separate pilot projects at Deerfield, the Company built two 500 barrel of oil per day steam drive production facilities (Marmaton River and Grassy Creek)
comprised of 116 production wells, 39 steam injection wells and 14 service and observation wells. Throughout the Deerfield area, the predecessor Company
has drilled 73 exploration/delineation wells with a 67% success rate.

As of April 30, 2013, all Missouri assets were carried at salvage value, since the Company’s current business plans do not contemplate raising the necessary
capital to develop these properties.

Kentucky
As a result of the Share Exchange, the Company acquired Kentucky lease holdings which include a 37.5 % working interest in 27,150 unproved gross acres
(10,181net acres). The Kentucky property is mainly undeveloped land and therefore was not assigned any reserve value under the Company’s independent
reserve reports.
Currently, the Company is carrying these oil and gas assets at $-, the carrying value of the assets acquired through the Share Exchange.

Montana
The Montana leasehold is in the Devils Basin prospect and totals 1,175 gross acres (881 net). The Company currently owns a 75% working interest in this
prospect, but has no immediate plans to develop this property
As of April 30, 2013, all Montana assets were carried at salvage value.

Other
Other property consists primarily of four used steam generators and related equipment that will be assigned to future projects. As of April 30, 2013,
management concluded that an impairment was not necessary because the assets are being carried at salvage value.

Operational and Project Review

The following table summarizes the costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration, and development activities for the Company for the four
months ended April 30, 2013 and for the period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012:

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2013
Additions
Disposals
Depletion
Impairment

Acquisition
Excess purchase price paid
Impairment of excess purchase price paid
Balance, April 30, 2013

-

-

-

-

-

-

Kansas
12,254,519
98,764

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

75,000

-

100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

75,000

12,329,098

100,000

Missouri

$

Montana

Kentucky

918,991
1,093,527
(1,093,527 )
$ 918,991

(24,185)

Other
-

Total
12,254,519
98,764

-

-

(24,185)
-

1,093,991
1,093,527
(1,093,527 )
13,423,089
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Cost
Balance, February 2, 2012
Additions
Disposals

Missouri

$

Depletion
Impairment

Balance, April 30, 2012

$

Kansas

Montana

Kentucky

$

-

-

$

Total

Other

$

-

$

-

$

-

12,335,000

-

-

-

-

12,335,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,254,519

-

12,254,519

(80,481)

-

(80,481)

-

Oil Wells, Properties, Operations, and Acreage
The following table sets forth the number of oil wells in which we held a working interest as of April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
Producing

April 30, 2013
Gross
Net
5
2.5

Kansas
Missouri (1)
Kentucky (1)

Non-Producing

April 30, 2013
Gross
Net
37
34.5
117
117
5
1.9

December 31, 2012
Gross
Net
-

-

-

-

-

-

December 31, 2012
Gross
Net
-

-

117
5

117
1.9

-

-

-

-

Montana (1)
Texas (1)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5

Total

5

2.5

-

-

164

3.75
157.15

5
127

3.75
122.65

(1) We acquired the predecessor assets of Petro River Oil Corporation on April 23, 2013.

The following table sets forth the lease areas we have an interest in, by area, as of April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

Project Areas

Kansas
Missouri 1
Kentucky (1)
Texas (1)
Montana (1)

Total

April 30, 2013
Gross
115,366
22,832
27,150

December 31, 2012
Gross
Net

Net

85,182
22,470
10,181

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,175
166,523

881
118,714

-

-

-

-

(1) We have no plans for any further expenditure on these properties as a result of the legal acquiror’s poor drilling results in prior years and a lack of
resources.
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Oil and Natural Gas Reserves
Oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB”) Topic 932 - “Extractive
Activities - Oil and Gas”.

Petro has no proven oil and gas reserves as of April 30, 2013. The legal acquirer had proven reserves but had previously written down such reserves to net
salvage value. As a result of the Share Exchange, the Company is carrying these reserves at net salvage value. The Company retains qualified independent
reserves evaluators to evaluate the Company’s proved oil reserves. The Company does not have any natural gas reserves. For the years ended April 30, 2013
the reports by GLJ Petroleum Consultants (“ GLJ”) covered 100% of the Company’s oil reserves. The Company did not have any recorded reserves as of April
31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Proved oil and natural gas reserves, as defined within SEC Rule 4-10(a)(22) of Regulation S-X, are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of
geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward from known reservoirs,
and under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations prior to the time of which contracts providing the right to operate
expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether determinable or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation.
The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable
time. Developed oil and natural gas reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods

or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well; and through installed extraction equipment and
infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate is the extraction is by means not involving a well. Estimates of the Company’s oil reserves are
subject to uncertainty and will change as additional information regarding producing fields and technology becomes available and as future economic and
operating conditions change.

Our undeveloped acreage includes leased acres on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the production of commercial
quantities of oil and natural gas, regardless of whether or not such acreage is held by production or contains proved reserves. A gross acre is an acre in which
we own an interest. A net acre is deemed to exist when the sum of fractional ownership interests in gross acres equals one. The number of net acres is the sum
of the fractional interests owned in gross acres.
As of April 30, 2013, the Company did not have any proven reserves.
Net Production, Unit Prices and Costs

The following table presents certain information with respect to our oil and natural gas production and prices and costs attributable to all oil and natural gas
properties owned by us for the periods shown.

For the period January 1, 2013 to April 30 2013, and
for the period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations)
to December 31, 2012:
2013
Production volumes:
Oil (Bbls)
Natural gas (Mcf)
Total (Boe)
Average realized prices:
Oil (per Bbl)
Natural gas (per Mcf)
Total per Boe
Average production cost:
Total per Boe

2012

1,706
19,276
4,919

-

$
$
$

86.70
2.78
40.97

$
$
$

-

$

39.65

$

-

-
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Drilling and Other Exploratory and Development Activities
As of April 30, 2013, the Company did not have any drilling, exploratory or development activity.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings and, to our knowledge; no such proceedings are threatened or contemplated, except as noted
below.

On March 15, 2013, a former employee of the Company (VP-Operations) commenced an action in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta claiming wrongful
termination and seeking severance in an amount approximating US$185,000. On May 3, 2013, the Company reached a settlement with the former employee
and entered into a formal settlement and release of claims agreement. As consideration for full settlement and mutual release, the Company agreed to issue the
former employee 200,000 shares of common stock of the Company, valued at $0.40/share or $80,000, and a cash payment of $50,000. The Company has
accrued $130,000 as of April 30, 2013.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common shares have traded in the United States on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board exchange (OTC) under the symbol “PTRC”.
The following table sets forth the quarterly average high and low bid prices per share for our common stock for the two most recently completed fiscal years in
the period that ended on April 30, 2013.

Fiscal Year Ended

Common Stock

Low

High

April 30, 2013
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

0.115
0.094
0.135
0.500

$
$
$
$

0.0021
0.041
0.022
0.130

April 30, 2012
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

0.600
0.200
0.075
0.060

$
$
$
$

0.070
0.050
0.010
0.025

Holders

As of July 30, 2013, we had 324 holders of record of our registered common stock, and our common stock had a closing bid price of $0.22 per share.

Dividends and Related Policy

We presently intend to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our business operations and accordingly, the Board of Directors (the “ Board”) does not anticipate
declaring any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the Board and will be contingent
upon our financial condition, results of operations, current and anticipated cash needs, restrictions contained in current or future financing instruments, plans
for expansion and such other factors as the Board deems relevant. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Our transfer agent is Computer Share Investor Services located at 510 Burrard Street, 3 rd Floor, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C3B9, Canada. Their
telephone number is 604-661-9408.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On April 23, 2013 the Company acquired all of the ownership interest of Petro through the below series of transactions:

The Share Exchange Transaction
On April 23, 2013, the Company executed and consummated a securities purchase agreement by and among the Company, Petro, the holders of outstanding
secured promissory notes of Petro (the “ Notes”), and the members (the “ Petro Members ”) of Petro holding membership interests in Petro (the “ Membership
Interests”), and together with the Notes and the Membership Interests, the “ Acquired Securities ”) sold by the Company (the “ Securities Purchase Agreement ”
and the transaction, the “ Share Exchange ”).
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In the Share Exchange, the Investors exchanged their Acquired Securities for newly issued shares of common stock of the Company (“ Common Stock ”). As a
result, upon completion of the Share Exchange, Petro became the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary.

Upon completion of the Share Exchange, the Company issued an aggregate of 591,021,011 shares of Common Stock to the Investors, whereby the Petro
Noteholders received an aggregate of 590,993,455 shares of Common Stock in exchange for their Notes and the Petro Members received an aggregate of
27,556 shares of Common Stock in exchange for their Membership Interests. The 591,021,011 shares issued to the Investors constituted approximately 80%
of the Company’s 737,117,746 issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock post-Closing.
As of April 30, 2013, upon the issuance of the shares described above, the Company has 737,117,746 shares of its Common Stock that are deemed issued
and outstanding.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.
None.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION
Forward Looking Statements
The following is management’s discussion and analysis of certain significant factors which have affected our financial position and operating results during
the periods included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, as well as information relating to the plans of our current management and should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and their related notes included in this Report. References in this section to “we,” “us,”
“our,” or the “Company” are to the consolidated business of Petro River Oil Corp. and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries.
This Report contains forward-looking statements. Generally, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “estimates,”
“continues,” and similar expressions or the negative thereof or comparable terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements
are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including the matters set forth in this Report or other reports or documents we file with the SEC from time to
time, which could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those projected. Undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking
statements which speak only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements.

Business Overview

The ultimate goal of the management of the Company is to maximize shareholder value. Specific targets include: increasing production by developing our
acreage, increasing profitability margins by evaluating and optimizing our production, and executing our business plan to increase property values, reserves,
and expanding our asset base.
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We benefit from having an experienced management team with proven acquisition, operating and financing capabilities. Mr. Scot Cohen, our Executive
Chairman, has over 20 years of financial management experience including five years as managing partner of Iroquois Capital Opportunity Fund, a private
equity fund focused on oil and gas. He has raised equity and debt for a number of small and microcap public companies.
Mr. Cohen is joined by Luis Vierma, Daniel Smith and Ruben Alba who make up the Company’s technical leadership. Mr. Vierma has 35 years of experience
in oil and gas including VP of Exploration and Production at Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A, (“ PDVSA”) the fourth largest oil company in the world. Mr. Vierma
has a BS in Chemistry and MS in Geology and leads the Company’s Geological and Geophysical team. Mr. Smith is a registered petroleum engineer with over
15 years’ experience. Mr. Smith spent his career at XTO Energy where he served as an operations engineer responsible for managing fields producing in excess
of 100 million cubic feet of natural gas per day. Mr. Alba has been active in the oil and gas industry since 1997. Previously he was with Halliburton Energy
Services and Superior Well Services overseeing regional technical staff and operations. Mr. Alba manages the Company’s heavy oil projects in Missouri and
Kentucky.

The Company is focused on developing its recently acquired Mississippi Lime acreage in Kansas and also its heavy oil properties in Missouri and Kentucky.
Early reservoir projects in Kansas were focused on proving reserve potential into the Bourbon Arch geological region of the Mississippi Lime play. The
production response from this region established migration and asset production potential. The Company also engaged an extensive geologic study of its
leasehold position using over 26,000 producers and 40 acres of a proprietary 3D data set. The Company plans to raise capital to drill a number of prospective
reserve targets.
Projects related to the heavy oil reservoirs were in technical review. The Company has an extensive amount of technical and reservoir information on both the
Missouri and Kentucky positions. The data is being utilized in the understanding and test phases to develop an economic heavy oil production reserve base.

The Company continues to explore various opportunities to raise capital to support the growth of the Company. These opportunities include, without
limitation, potential joint ventures with various on and off-shore entities and potential private issuances of equity, debt or a combination thereof. There can be
no assurance that the Company will enter into any of these transactions. Mr. Cohen and Mr. Vierma have extensive experience in capital markets and oil and
gas joint ventures. During his time as VP of Exploration and Production at PDVSA, Mr. Vierma negotiated billions of dollars of joint ventures with foreign oil
and gas companies.

Financial Condition and Results of Operations
As a result of the April 23, 2012 acquisition and share exchange transaction, Petro River Oil, LLC was deemed the accounting acquirer. All historical financial
information is that of Petro River Oil, LLC.
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For the Period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 and for the Period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012

Revenue and other income
Oil and natural gas sales
Total Income

For the Period January
1, 2013
to April 30, 2013

For the Period February
2, 2012
to December 31, 2012

$

$

184,676
184,676

Operating Expenses
Operating
General and administrative
Depreciation, depletion and accretion
Impairment of excess purchase price
Total Expenses

623,136
29,304
1,093,527
1,890,406

Operating loss

Net Loss
Earnings per share – basic and diluted

82,663
526,460
80,481

75%
(18%)

-

689,604

100%
(174%)

(1,705,730 )

(672,703)

(154%)

5,174
(619,178)
(614,004)

34,658
(1,277,572 )
(1,242,914 )

(52%)
(51%)

(1,915,617 )
(0.00)

(21%)
(-%)

(2,319,734 )
(0.00)

$
$

993%
993%

16,901
16,901

144,439

Other income (expenses)
Interest and Other Income
Interest expense
Total other income (expenses)

Percent
Change

$
$

(64%)

(85%)

Oil Sales
During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013, the Company recognized $184,676 in oil and gas sales. The Company had $147,930 in oil sales and
$36,696 in gas sales during the period. Sales increased from $16,901 for the period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012. The increase is primarily
attributable to sales from acquired wells.

Interest and Other Income
During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 interest and other income of $5,174 consisted mainly of interest on cash balances, as compared interest
and other income for period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012 of $34,658 which consisted mainly of interest earned on 10% demand notes to a related
party. As of the date of the share exchange agreement, these demand loans were eliminated in the consolidation.

Operating Expenses
During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013, operating expenses was $144,439, as compared to operating expenses for the period February 2, 2012 to
December 31, 2012, of $82,663. The increase in operating expenses is primarily attributable to the Company newly commencing operations during 2012.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses for the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 were $623,136, as compared to $526,460 for the period February 2,
2012 to December 31, 2012. The increase is primarily attributable to the Company commencing payroll during the four months ended April 30, 2013. The
changes are outlined below:

For the Period

For the Period

January 1, 2013
April 30, 2013
133,391
432,161
57,499
85

Salaries and benefits
Professional fees
Office and administrative
Information technology

$

623,136

February 2, 2012
To December 31, 2012

$

-

379,609
64,076
82,775
$

526,460
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Impairment of excess purchase price
As a result of the Share Exchange, the Company recorded goodwill on the excess of the fair value of the shares maintained by existing shareholders as
compared to the net assets acquired. Based on the overall market capitalization of the Company at the time of the share exchange, the aggregate fair value of
these shares (20% of the market capitalization) was $1,117,404, which exceeded the fair value of the net assets acquired by $1,093,527.
The Company prior to the merger, impaired its assets to net salvage value and determined upon consummation of the merger the excess purchase price paid for

the assets continued to be impaired, thus the Company recognized an immediate charge of $1,093,527 in its accompanying consolidated statement of
operations for the four months period ended April 30, 2013.

Interest expense
Interest expense is related to the interest on the notes payable issued during the period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012. Interest was $619,178 for the
period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 as compared to $1,277,572 for the period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012. The decrease in interest expense
is primarily attributable to the Company accruing interest for the entire period ended December 31, 2012, as compared to only accruing interest for four
months during the period ended April 30, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of April 30, 2013, the Company has working capital of approximately $4.7 million but has incurred losses since inception and utilized cash in its
operating activities. In addition, the Company has a limited operating history. At April 30, 2013, the Company has cash and cash equivalents approximately
$5.7 million. Management believes that the current level of working capital is sufficient to maintain operations for the next 12 months. Management intends to
continue to raise capital through debt and equity instruments in order to achieve its business plans.

Our current capital and our other existing resources are sufficient to provide working capital for the balance of 2014. We will require additional capital to
continue to operate our business and to further expand our exploration and development programs. We may be unable to obtain additional capital required.
Furthermore, inability to maintain capital may damage our reputation and credibility with industry participants. Our inability to raise additional funds when
required may have a negative impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.
The Company is focused on developing its recently acquired Mississippi Lime acreage in Kansas and also its heavy oil properties in Missouri and Kentucky.
Early reservoir projects in Kansas were focused on proving reserve potential into the Bourbon Arch geological region of the Mississippi Lime play. The
production response from this region established migration and asset production potential. The company also engaged an extensive geologic study of its
leasehold position using over 26,000 producers and 60 square miles of a proprietary 3D data set. The company plans to raise capital to drill a number of
prospective reserve targets.

Projects related to the heavy oil reservoirs were in technical review. The Company has an extensive amount of technical and reservoir information on both
Missouri and Kentucky positions. The data is being utilized in the understanding and test phases to develop an economic heavy oil production reserve base.
The ultimate goal of the management is to maximize shareholder value. Specific targets include: increasing production by developing its acreage, increasing
profitability margins by evaluating and optimizing its production, and executing its business plan to increase property values, reserves, and expanding our
asset base.

Operating Activities

The Company used $670,248 in operating activities during the 4 months ended April 30, 2013, as compared to using $511,924 during the period from
February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012. The Company incurred a net loss during the four month period ended April 30, 2013
of $2,319,734 as compared to a loss of $1,915,617 for the period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012.
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Investing Activities
During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013, the Company incurred $98,764 of expenditures on oil and gas assets compared to $13,016,965 during
the period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012. In addition, during the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31,
2012, the Company loaned Petro River Corp $825,000 in demand promissory notes. The notes were eliminated at the time of the Share Exchange.
On April 23, 2013 Petro River Oil Corp acquired control of Petro River Oil, LLC (“ Petro”), an emerging oil and gas producer which controls a substantial
acreage position in the Southeast Kansas region of the Mississippi Lime formation. As a result of the acquisition of Petro, now a wholly-owned subsidiary, the
Company has added 115,000 gross/85,000 net acres to its Oil and Gas portfolio, establishing a significant presence in the promising Mississippi Lime play.
The Company also acquired over 60 square miles of proprietary 3D seismic data over prospective Mississippi Lime acreage in the same area.

During 2012, the Company invested $12,191,965 into the Mississippi Lime play. The oil and gas assets consists of a 100% interest in 120 oil and gas
leases which cover approximately 85,000 gross mineral acres located in various counties in the state of Kansas. During the 4 months ended April 30, 2013, the
Company incurred another $98,764 into the Mississippi Lime play.

Financing Activities
During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013, the Company had $- in cash provided by (used in) financing activities as compared to $20,000,983 in
cash provided by financing activities during the period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012. During the prior period Petro sold and issued $19,999,983
in 10% notes payable to investors. On April 23, 2013, the notes were fully diluted into shares of common stock as part of the share exchange transaction. In
addition, Petro River Members contributed $1,000 during the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012.

Capitalization
The number of outstanding shares and the number of shares that could be issued if all convertible instruments are converted to shares is as follows:

As of
Common shares
Stock Options
Compensation Warrants

April 30 2013
737,117,746
290,000
230,000

737,637,746
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 3 to the annual consolidated financial statements for the period January 1, 2013 to April
30, 2013 and for the period February 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012 respectively. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S.
GAAP.
The accounting policies set out in note 3 have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these audited consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and other
disclosures in these financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates due to factors such as fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange
rates, inflation levels and commodity prices, changes in economic conditions and legislative and regulatory changes.
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Significant estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements include estimates of oil and gas reserves and resources and the estimated value of the
unproved properties, stock-based compensation fair values and estimated cost and timing related to asset retirement obligations.
The critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described below.

Oil and Gas Operations
The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas operations whereby all costs related to exploration and development of oil and gas
reserves are capitalized. Under this method, the Company capitalizes all acquisition, exploration and development costs incurred for the purpose of finding oil
and natural gas reserves, including salaries, benefits and other internal costs directly attributable to these activities. Costs associated with production and
general corporate activities, however, are expensed in the period incurred. Costs are capitalized on a country-by-country basis. To date, there has only been one
cost center, the United States.
Capitalized costs of oil and natural gas properties may not exceed an amount equal to the present value, discounted at 10%, of estimated future net revenues
from proved reserves plus the cost of unproven properties. Should capitalized costs exceed this ceiling, impairment is recognized.

The present value of estimated future net cash flows is computed by applying the average first-day-of-the-month prices during the previous twelve-month
period of oil and natural gas to estimated future production of proved oil and natural gas reserves as of year-end less estimated future expenditures to be
incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves and assuming continuation of existing economic conditions. Prior to December 31, 2009, prices and
costs used to calculate future net cash flows were those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly period.
Following the discovery of reserves and the commencement of production, the Company will compute depletion of oil and natural gas properties using the unitof-production method based upon production and estimates of proved reserve quantities. Costs associated with unproved properties are excluded from the
depletion calculation until it is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to such properties. Unproved properties are assessed for impairment
quarterly. Significant properties are assessed individually.

The Company assesses all items classified as unproved property on a quarterly basis for possible impairment. The Company assesses properties on an
individual basis or as a group if properties are individually insignificant. The assessment includes consideration of the following factors, among others: land
relinquishment; intent to drill; remaining lease term; geological and geophysical evaluations; drilling results and activity; the assignment of proved reserves;
and the economic viability of development if proved reserves are assigned. During any period in which these factors indicate impairment, the related
exploration costs incurred are transferred to the full cost pool and are then subject to depletion and the ceiling limitations on development oil and natural gas
expenditures.

Proceeds from the sale of oil and gas assets are applied against capitalized costs, with no gain or loss recognized, unless a sale would alter the rate of depletion
and depreciation by 25 percent or more.

Significant changes in these factors could reduce our estimates of future net proceeds and accordingly could result in an impairment of our oil and gas assets.
Management will perform quarterly assessments of the carrying amounts of its oil and gas assets as additional data from ongoing exploration activities
becomes available.
Management concluded that for the period ended April 30, 2013, no impairments were necessary.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
None.
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Related Party Transactions
During the period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012, the Company entered into a series of demand promissory notes
totaling $825,000 with Petro. The demand promissory notes bear interest at 8% per annum and are due two business days after receipt of demand for
payment. In an event of default, the notes bear a default rate of 15% per annum. The notes are unsecured.

During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013, the Company entered into a series of demand promissory notes totaling $256,950 with Petro. The
demand promissory notes bear interest at 8% per annum and are due two business days after receipt of demand for payment. In an event of default, the notes
bear a default rate of 15% per annum. The notes are unsecured.
As a result of the share exchange agreement, on April 23, 2013, the balance of the aforementioned demand promissory notes and accrued interest totaling
$1,163,530 which was converted to equity and was reclassified from equity to a liability and was deemed as a dividend distribution.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU”) 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, an amendment to FASB ASC Topic 220. The update requires disclosure of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to present either on the face of the statement of operations or in the notes, significant
amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income but only if the amount reclassified is required
to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period. For amounts not reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to
cross-reference to other disclosures that provide additional detail about those amounts. This ASU is effective prospectively for the Company’s fiscal years,
and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2012. The pronouncement did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued ASU No. 2013-04, “Liabilities (Topic 405): Obligations Resulting from Joint
and Several Liability Arrangements for which the Total Amount of the Obligation Is Fixed at the Reporting Date.” This ASU addresses the recognition,
measurement, and disclosure of certain obligations resulting from joint and several arrangements including debt arrangements, other contractual obligations,
and settled litigation and judicial rulings. The ASU is effective for public entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2013. Management does not expect the pronouncement to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.
In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-05, “Foreign Currency Matters (Topic 830): Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment
upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity.” This ASU addresses the
accounting for the cumulative translation adjustment when a parent either sells a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity or no longer holds a controlling
financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or a business within a foreign entity. The guidance outlines the events when
cumulative translation adjustments should be released into net income and is intended by the FASB to eliminate some disparity in current accounting practice.
This ASU is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. Management does not expect
the pronouncement to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-07, “Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205): Liquidation Basis of Accounting.” The amendments
require an entity to prepare its financial statements using the liquidation basis of accounting when liquidation is imminent. Liquidation is imminent when the
likelihood is remote that the entity will return from liquidation and either (a) a plan for liquidation is approved by the person or persons with the authority to
make such a plan effective and the likelihood is remote that the execution of the plan will be blocked by other parties or (b) a plan for liquidation is being
imposed by other forces (for example, involuntary bankruptcy). If a plan for liquidation was specified in the entity’s governing documents from the entity’s
inception (for example, limited-life entities), the entity should apply the liquidation basis of accounting only if the approved plan for liquidation differs from
the plan for liquidation that was specified at the entity’s inception. The amendments require financial statements prepared using the liquidation basis of
accounting to present relevant information about an entity’s expected resources in liquidation by measuring and presenting assets at the amount of the expected
cash proceeds from liquidation. The entity should include in its presentation of assets any items it had not previously recognized under U.S. GAAP but that it
expects to either sell in liquidation or use in settling liabilities (for example, trademarks). The amendments are effective for entities that determine liquidation is
imminent during annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, and interim reporting periods therein. Entities should apply the requirements
prospectively from the day that liquidation becomes imminent. Early adoption is permitted. Management does not expect the pronouncement to have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective accounting pronouncements, if adopted, would have a material effect on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Reference is made to pages F-1 through F-24 comprising a portion of this annual report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,

processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our chief executive officer and chief financial officer to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as defined under Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e), as of April 30, 2013. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of April 30, 2013 due to a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting, as discussed below.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as required under applicable United States
securities regulatory requirements. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s chief executive and chief financial officers and effected by the company’s board of directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

●

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company;
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●

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and

●

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use of disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. A system of internal controls can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met, no matter how well the system is conceived or operated.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2013. In making this assessment, our management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control Integrated Framework.
Based on that evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that as of April 30, 2013, our internal control over financial reporting was not
effective because of the following material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting:

●

Due to our small number of employees and resources, we have limited segregation of duties, as a result of which there is insufficient independent
review of duties performed.

●

As a result of the limited number of accounting personnel, we rely on outside consultants for the preparation of our financial reports, including
financial statements and management discussion and analysis, which could lead to overlooking items requiring disclosure.

This annual report does not include an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. As we are neither a large accelerated filer nor an accelerated filer, our management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management’s report in this annual report.

Remediation Plan

The size of the Company and its limited number of employees will make it difficult to remediate all existing weaknesses. We intend to hire additional
accounting staff, and operations and administrative executives and remediate each of the weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over
financial reporting.

Changes to Internal Controls and Procedures for Financial Reporting

During the four month period ended April 30, 2013, Petro River Oil Corp acquired all of the ownership interest of Petro River Oil, LLC, an emerging oil and
gas producer which controls a substantial acreage position in the Southeast Kansas region of the Mississippi Lime formation. Upon the effectuation of the
merger on April 23, 2013, Scot Cohen was named Executive Chairman. Jeff Friedman resigned as chief executive officer and chief financial officer. Owing to
the limited number of staff we have relied heavily on the active involvement of our chief executive officer for our internal controls and thus have had limited
segregation of duties. During the four month period ended April 30, 2013 the Company relied upon outside consultants to do its bookkeeping and prepare its
financial reports. Other than as described, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our Board of Directors is currently composed of 7 persons. The term of each director is until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until he resigns or is
succeeded by another qualified director who has been elected. The following is a list of our executive officers and the current members of our Board of
Directors, including each member’s age, the year he became a director or officer of the Company and his current positions with the Company:

Name
Scot Cohen
Glenn C. Pollack
Fred Zeidman
John Wallace
Ryan Estis
Daniel Smith
Ruben Alba
David Briones
Luis Vierma

Age

Since
2012
2012
2009
2013
2013
2012
2012
2013
2013

44

55
67
39
44

41
40

37

55

Position
Director, Executive Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director, Executive Vice President
Director, Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President

Set forth below is a brief description of the background and business experience of our executive officers and directors.
Scot Cohen

Mr. Scot J. Cohen is a Co-Founder and Managing Partner at Iroquois Capital Opportunity Fund (“ ICO Fund ”). ICO Fund is a private equity fund focused on
identifying and realizing investment opportunities in companies developing onshore oil and gas assets in North America. Additionally, Scot manages several
operating and non-operating partnerships which invest in domestic oil and gas assets.
Scot has served as the company’s Executive Chairman since April 23, 2013 and has been its Director since September 7, 2012.

Scot is active in philanthropic activities with numerous charities and currently serves as Chairman of the National Foundation for Veteran Redeployment (
“NFVR”). NFVR is a 501(c)3 non-profit organization whose mission is to help unemployed veterans prepare for and enter new careers in the oil and gas
industry. In addition to providing technical scholarships, NFVR uses its rolodex of industry connections to place newly qualified veterans with oil and gas
companies across the United States.
Scot received a Bachelor of Science degree from Ohio University in 1991.

Glenn C. Pollack

Mr. Pollack is a Managing Director and Founder of Candlewood Partners, LLC (“ Candlewood ”), a merchant bank focused on middle market corporate
finance and infrastructure projects. Candlewood has successfully managed corporate restructurings and reorganizations, developed and implemented
innovative capital structures and alternatives to traditional financing methodologies for both restructurings and infrastructure opportunities. Additionally, in
conjunction with its investment partners, Candlewood invests in distressed and other special situations, including the purchase of debt and equity securities
of distressed businesses and emerging infrastructure technologies. Prior to founding Candlewood, Mr. Pollack was a Managing Director and Principal of a
middle market investment banking firm with offices in Chicago and Cleveland. He was responsible for the Restructuring Group and was involved in other
corporate finance transactions including mergers and acquisitions and capital raising for special situations. He also spent five years as the CEO of a regional
distributor of perishable foods with annual revenues of $180 million and over 250 employees in four states. Mr. Pollack is a certified public accountant and
has worked for Price Waterhouse as a consultant and Touche Ross as an auditor.
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Fred Zeidman
Mr. Zeidman has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Petroflow Energy Corporation since September 2011 and as a Director of Petro River Oil
Corporation since April 2013. Mr. Zeidman has also served as a director of Hyperdynamics Corporation since 2009 and as a director of Prosperity
Bancshares, Inc. since 1986. He currently also serves as trustee for the AremisSoft Liquidating Trust, a position he has held since 2004. In March 2013, Mr.
Zeidman was appointed to the Board of Straight Path Communications Inc. In March 2008, Mr. Zeidman was appointed the Interim President of Nova
Biosource Fuels, Inc. (“ Nova”), a publicly-traded biodiesel technology company, and served in that position until the company’s acquisition in November
2009. Mr. Zeidman also served as a director of Nova from June 2007 to November 2009. From August 2009 through November 2009, Mr. Zeidman served as
Chief Restructuring Officer for Transmeridian Exploration, Inc. and served in that position until its sale in November 2009. Mr. Zeidman has served on the
board of Prosperity Bank for 26 years. He also served as CEO, President and Chairman of the Board of Seitel Inc., an oil field services company, from June
2002 until its sale in February 2007. Mr. Zeidman served as a Managing Director of the law firm Greenberg Traurig, LLP from July 2003 to December 2008.
Mr. Zeidman has served as CEO, Interim CEO and Chairman of the Board of a variety of companies, including several in the oil and gas sector.
Mr. Zeidman is the Chairman Emeritus of the United States Holocaust Memorial Council. He was appointed to that position by former President George W.
Bush in March 2002 and served from 2002-2010. He is also Chairman Emeritus of the University of Texas Health Science System Houston and is on the
Board of Trustees of the Texas Heart Institute (where he currently serves as Interim Chief Financial Officer) and the Institute for Rehabilitation and Research.
He currently serves on the Board of Directors and Executive Committee of the University of Saint Thomas and chairs its Development Committee and
Houston Community College. Mr. Zeidman received his Bachelor of Science and Bachelor of Arts from Washington University and a Masters of Business
Administration from New York University.

John Wallace

Since April 2009, Mr. Wallace has been an alumni relations and fan development representative for the New York Knicks, a professional basketball team
aligned with the National Basketball Association. In that capacity, Mr. Wallace works on community public relations and fan development initiatives, along
with sponsorship and marketing programs. In January 2013, Mr. Wallace joined Hotaling Insurance Group as an insurance agent. In February 2013, Mr.
Wallace became an Executive Board Member of Heavenly Productions Foundation, a not for profit charitable organization dedicated to helping children in need
or in distress. Since October 2007, Mr. Wallace has served as Vice President of Winning Because I Tried, a non-profit he co-founded in 2007, and whose
focus is on academic success, social interaction, peer pressure awareness, and sound decision-making for children ages 8-18. Since 2006, Mr. Wallace has
been President and General Manager of Rochester AAU Basketball, a program he founded in March 2006 and which is designed to leverage sports as a means
for youth to obtain a college education. From June 1996 through May 2004, Mr. Wallace was a professional basketball player associated with the National
Basketball Association. Mr. Wallace graduated from Syracuse University in May 1996 with a Bachelors of Science degree in sociology.

Ryan Estis
Ryan Estis served as the Chief Strategy Officer for NAS Recruitment Communications, a portfolio agency of the Interpublic Group of Companies from
January 2005 to January 2009. In February of 2009 Ryan started Ryan Estis & Associates, a keynote speaking & training organization based in
Minneapolis, Minnesota, where he presently serves as Chief Executive Officer. Ryan is a graduate of Ohio University.
Daniel Smith
Daniel Smith is a registered Professional Engineer in Petroleum Engineering and has over 15 years of experience in the oil and gas industry. Mr. Smith spent
his career at XTO Energy where he served as an Operations Engineer specializing in hydraulic fracturing and artificial lift. Mr. Smith was directly responsible
for managing fields producing in excess of 100 million cubic feet of natural gas per day. Mr. Smith has also worked on numerous drilling, production, and
development projects ranging from the Marcellus Shale to the Permian Basin. Mr. Smith received a Bachelors of Science degree in Chemical Engineering from
Texas A&M University. Mr. Smith was appointed Executive Vice President Operations, effective July 3, 2013.
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Ruben Alba
Ruben Alba received his B.S. in Chemical Engineering from New Mexico State University and has been active in the oil & gas industry since 1997. Mr. Alba
spent the majority of his career with both Halliburton Energy Services and Superior Well Services, overseeing regional technical staff and operations. In this
capacity, Mr. Alba introduced a number of new and novel technologies involving new fluid chemistry to the industry, as well as completion processes to
reservoirs requiring cutting edge technology, where he holds three US Patents. Mr. Alba was appointed Executive Vice President Unconventional, effective July
3, 2013.

David Briones

David Briones was appointed Chief Financial Officer on August 15, 2013. Since October 1, 2010, Mr. Briones has acted as the managing member of Brio
Financial Group, LLC, a financial reporting consulting firm. From January 2006 through September 2010, Mr. Briones had managed the public company
and hedge fund practices at Bartolomei Pucciarelli, LLC (“BP”). Within that capacity, Mr. Briones performed audit services, outsourced CFO functions,
and/or consulted clients through difficult SEC comment periods particularly through application of complex accounting principles for a vast public company
client base. BP is a registered firm with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. BP is an independent member of the BDO Seidman Alliance.
Mr. Briones served as the chief financial officer of NXT Nutritionals Holdings, Inc. from February 2, 2009 to May 15, 2012. Mr. Briones also served as the
chief financial officer of Clear-Lite Holdings, Inc. from August 3, 2009 to March 21, 2011. Prior to joining BP, Mr. Briones was an auditor with
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in New York, New York. Mr. Briones specialized in the financial services group, and most notably worked on the MONY
Group, Prudential Financial, and MetLife initial public offerings.

Luis Vierma
Luis Vierma was appointed Executive Vice President Geological and Geophysical, effective July 3, 2013. Mr. Vierma, who has 35 years of experience in the oil

and gas industry, holds a Bachelor's Degree in Chemistry from Universidad Central de Venezuela (1979) and earned a master's degree in Geology
(Geochemistry of Petroleum) in 1984 from the University of Indiana. Mr. Vierma held numerous leadership positions at Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A, the
fourth largest oil company in the world, including VP of Exploration and Production, and also served as a director of CITGO.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the Company’s directors, executive officers and persons who own more than 10%
of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common
stock and other equity securities of the Company. Directors, officers and greater than 10% shareholders are required to furnish the Company with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms they file.

To the Company’s knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to the Company, with respect to the fiscal year ended April 30,
2013, the officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock have filed their initial statements of ownership on Form 3 on a
timely basis, and the officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock have also filed the required Forms 4 or 5 on a timely

basis.
Code of Ethics

Prior to the completion of the Share Exchange on April 23, 2013, and as of April 30, 2013, the Company operated under a Code of Ethics filed as an exhibit to
our 2010 Form 20-F.
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Following the acquisition of Petro, the Board engaged in a corporate governance reorganization, and pursuant to a unanimous written consent of the Board (the
“Unanimous Written Consent ”), formally adopted a new Code of Ethics, effective July 3, 2013, attached as an exhibit hereto. The Code of Ethics applies to
all officers, directors, and employees of the Company.

Board of Directors Meetings and Committees
The Board held 3 meetings during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013. Each Director attended, either in person or telephonically, at least 66% of the aggregate
Board of Directors meetings and meetings of committees on which he served during his tenure as a director or committee member.

Audit Committee
Prior to the completion of the Share Exchange on April 23, 2013, and as of April 30, 2013, the Audit Committee was composed of one director, Fred Zeidman,
who was considered independent under the Canadian Securities Regulators’ Multilateral Instrument 52-110-Audit Committees.

By the Unanimous Written Consent, the Board affirmed the designation, effective July 3, 2013, of an Audit Committee comprised of 3 directors, Ryan Estis,
Glenn Pollack, and Fred Zeidman, each of whom are “independent” as independence is currently defined in applicable Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) rules and the NYSE Company Guide. The Board has determined that Glenn Pollack qualifies as an “Audit Committee financial expert,” as
defined in applicable SEC rules implementing Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Board made a qualitative assessment of Mr. Pollack’s level
of knowledge and experience based on a number of factors, including his formal education and experience.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Company’s corporate accounting, financial reporting practices, audits of financial statements and the
quality and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and reports. In addition, the Audit Committee oversees the qualifications, independence and
performance of the Company’s independent auditors. In furtherance of these responsibilities, the Audit Committee’s duties include the following: evaluating the
performance of and assessing the qualifications of the independent auditors; determining and approving the engagement of the independent auditors to perform
audit, reviewing and attesting to services and performing any proposed permissible non-audit services; evaluating employment by the Company of individuals
formerly employed by the independent auditors and engaged on the Company’s account and any conflicts or disagreements between the independent auditors
and management regarding financial reporting, accounting practices or policies; discussing with management and the independent auditors the results of the
annual audit; reviewing the financial statements proposed to be included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K; discussing with management and the
independent auditors the results of the auditors’ review of the Company’s quarterly financial statements; conferring with management and the independent
auditors regarding the scope, adequacy and effectiveness of internal auditing and financial reporting controls and procedures; and establishing procedures for
the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting control and auditing matters and the confidential and anonymous
submission by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. The Audit Committee operates under the written Audit Committee
Charter adopted by the Unanimous Written Consent. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company’s website.

Compensation Committee
The responsibilities of a compensation committee were performed by the board as a whole. Pursuant to the Unanimous Written Consent, the board ratified the
designation of a Compensation Committee, effective July 3, 2013. The Compensation Committee is currently comprised of two directors, Glenn Pollack and
Fred Zeidman, each of whom is independent as independence is currently defined in applicable SEC rules and the NYSE Company Guide.

The Compensation Committee reviews, and as it deems appropriate, recommends to the Board, policies, practices, and procedures relating to the
compensation of the officers and other managerial employees, and the establishment and administration of employee benefit plans. It advises and consults with
the officers of the Company as may be requested regarding managerial personnel policies. The Compensation Committee also has such additional powers as
may be conferred upon it from time to time by the Board.
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The Compensation Committee operates under the written Compensation Committee Charter that was adopted by the Unanimous Written Consent. A copy of
the Compensation Committee Charter is available on the Company’s website.

Board Nominations
In lieu of a formal Board Nomination Committee, Board nomination decisions are to be made by the independent directors of the Board in compliance with
criteria adopted in the Unanimous Written Consent. The independent directors prepare a list of candidates to fill the expiring terms of directors serving on our
Board, which they then submit to the Board who determines which candidates will be nominated to serve on the Board. The names of nominees are then
submitted for election at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The independent directors also submit to the entire Board a list of nominees to fill any interim
vacancies on the Board resulting from the departure of a member of the Board for any reason prior to the expiration of his term. In recommending nominees,
the independent directors are to consider various criteria, including general business experience, general financial experience, knowledge of the Company’s
industry (including past industry experience), education, and demonstrated character and judgment. The independent directors will also consider director
nominees recommended by a stockholder if the stockholder mails timely notice to the Secretary of the Company at its principal offices. Any person nominated
by a stockholder for election to the Board will be evaluated based on the same criteria as all other nominees.
During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013, there were no changes to the procedures by which holders of our common stock may recommend nominees to the
Board.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Executive Compensation Table

The following table sets forth a summary of all compensation paid during the period ended April 30, 2013 to the Named Executive Officers and other
individuals who served as Named Executive Officers for some period during the year:
Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

Name and
Principal Position
Jeffrey Freedman

Fiscal
Year
Year
Ended
April 30

Long-

Salary
($)

ShareBased
Awards
($)

Option-

Annual

Term

Based
Awards

Incentive

Incentive

Pension

other

Plans

Plans

Value

Comp.

Total
Comp.

($)(1)

($)

($)

($)

($)

($)

-

All

(2)

Former Interim Chief Interim Executive
Officer and Interim Chief Financial
Officer

2013

25,000

-

Vice President, Operations

2013

38,550

-

Scot Cohen (4)
Executive Chairman

2013

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,000

-

(38,550)

Pat McCarron (3)

-

-

-

-

(1)

“Options” includes all options granted by us as compensation for employment services or office.

(2)
(3)

Mr. Freedman has been the interim Chief Financial Officer since July 1, 2011 and has acted as Interim Chief Executive Officer
since Mr. Morrison’s resignation on January 23, 2012.
Mr. McCarron served as the VP of Operations until March 15, 2013.

(4)

Mr. Cohen was appointed Executive Chairman on April 23, 2013, and received no compensation from the company in the year ended April 30, 2013.

-
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During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013, the Board had no formal meetings dedicated to compensation because of the other significant issues facing the
Company. During the year ended April 30, 2013, the Company’s operational focus was on surviving significant liquidity challenges that were the result of
having limited access to capital. There was no increase in base salaries or other benefits compared to the prior year.
Upon completion of the Share Exchange, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Scot Cohen, the Company’s Executive Chairman (the
“Employment Agreement ”). Under the terms of the Employment Agreement, Mr. Cohen will be entitled to all earned but unpaid salary, expense
reimbursements, bonuses (if applicable), and any vested benefits, upon termination of the Employment Agreement by the Company for cause, by Mr. Cohen
without good reason, or upon the Employment Agreement’s expiration date in the event Mr. Cohen does not choose to renew his contract. In the event Mr.
Cohen’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause, upon a change in control of the company, or by Mr. Cohen for good reason, he shall be
entitled to any accrued obligations (detailed in the preceding sentence), severance in a single lump sum installment in an amount equal to twice the sum of the
base salary in effect on the termination date plus two times the maximum annual bonus for which Mr. Cohen was eligible in the fiscal year in which the
termination date occurred, a pro-rata portion of Mr. Cohen’s annual bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurred, and a full vesting in the initial
grant and in any and all previously granted outstanding equity-based incentive awards subject to time-based vesting criteria.

Outstanding Equity Awards at April 30, 2013
The 2012 Equity Compensation Plan (the “ Plan”) was adopted to promote the success and enhance the value of the Corporation by continuing to link the
personal interest of participants to those of its Shareholders and by providing participants with an incentive for outstanding performance. The Plan is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board, and all employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries, as determined by the Compensation
Committee, and all members of the Board are eligible to participate. An aggregate of 90,000,000 Common Shares are available for grant pursuant to the Plan.
The plan was approved at a special meeting of the shareholders on September 7, 2012. As of August 8, 2013, no awards have been granted under the plan.

Director Compensation for the Year Ended April 30, 2013
No directors received compensation for board services in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of July 30, 2013 for each person known by us to be the
beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of common stock. Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have
sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock beneficially owned by them.
Amount of
Beneficial Ownership

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner*
Mr. Scott Cohen
Fortis Oil and Gas American LLC
Iroquois Capital Opportunity Fund LP
South Ferry Building Company
Helene and Norman Stark

Percentage of

Class(1)

119,168,377
59,706,493
53,665,133
37,283,143
37,040,965

16.16%
8.10%
7.28%
5.06%
5.03%

*

Unless otherwise noted, the address is that of the Company’s.
(1) The percentages shown are based on 737,317,746 common shares issued and outstanding as of August 13, 2013. Security Ownership of Management
Directors and Officers
The following table sets forth the ownership interest in our common stock of all directors and officers individually and as a group as of July 30 , 2013. Unless

otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock
beneficially owned by them.

Amount of
Beneficial Ownership

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner*
Mr. Scot Cohen
Mr. Jeff Freedman
Mr. Daniel Smith
Mr. Glenn Pollack
Mr. Ryan Estis

*

Percentage of

Class

119,168,377
544,493
1,436,280
3,341,644
1,029,441

16.16%
-%
-%
-%
-%

Unless otherwise noted, the address is that of the Company’s.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans .
As of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013:

Plan category
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
under equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected at
left)

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

$

520,000

.50

90,000,000

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

Director Independence

Ryan Estis, Glenn Pollack, John Wallace, and Fred Zeidman are independent directors of the Company, and as such, they satisfy the definition of
independence in accordance with SEC rules and the NYSE Company Guide.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Our independent registered public accounting firm is Marcum LLP. Set forth below are the aggregate fees we were billed or expected to be billed by Marcum
LLP for professional services rendered for the years ended April 30, 2013 and 2012.

Audit Fees
During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2013 and 2012, the fees for Marcum LLP were approximately $183,000 and $115,000, respectively.

Tax Fees
None.

All Other Fees

The Audit Committee has reviewed the above fees for non-audit services and believes such fees are compatible with the independent registered public
accountants’ independence.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services of Independent Accountant
The Audit Committee shall approve the audit engagement and fees related thereto and pre-approve any other services and fees related thereto to be provided by
the independent auditors. The Audit Committee shall schedule meetings to review and approve the scope of the annual audit to be performed by the Company’s
independent auditors.
The Audit Committee shall select, evaluate, and if appropriate, terminate or replace the independent auditors. The Audit Committee will arrange to receive from
the independent auditors a formal written statement on at least an annual basis delineating all relationships between the independent auditor and the Company,
consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard 1, which shall (a) set forth all relationships between the independent auditor and its related entities
and the Company and its related entities that in the independent auditor’s professional judgment may reasonably be thought to bear on independence, and (b)
confirm that in the auditor’s professional judgment, it is independent of the Company within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. On an annual basis, the Audit Committee will review and discuss with the auditors all significant relationships,
including non-audit services proposed or performed, the auditors have with the Company to determine the auditors’ independence, especially in light of any
disclosed relationships or services that may impact the objectivity and independence of the auditor. The independent auditors are accountable to the Audit
Committee and to the Board.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements.
Our financial statements as set forth in the Index to Financial Statements attached hereto commencing on page F-1 are hereby incorporated by reference.
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(b) Exhibits.
The following exhibits, which are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K, are filed herewith or, as noted, incorporated by reference herein:

Exhibit
Number
3.1 (1)
3.2 (1)
10.1(2)

10.2(3)
10.3(2)

14.1*
21.1(2)
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*

101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*

Exhibit Description
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
Bylaws of the Company
Securities Purchase Agreement of Petro River Oil LLC, dated as of April 23, 2013, by and among Petro River Oil Corp., Petro River Oil,
LLC, the holders of outstanding secured promissory notes of Petro River Oil, LLC, the members of Petro River Oil, LLC and Mega
Partners 1 LLC
2012 Equity Compensation Plan
Employment Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2013, by and between Petro River Oil Corp. and Scot Cohen
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Subsidiaries
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*

Attached hereto
(1) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 13, 2012.
(2) Incorporated by reference to our Form 6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 29, 2013.
(3) Incorporated by reference to our Form 20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2, 2012.
38

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

F-1

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012

F-2

Consolidated Statements of Operations for period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 and for period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of
Operations) to December 31, 2012

F-3

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency) from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to April 30, 2013

F-4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 and for period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of
Operations) to December 31, 2012

F-5

Notes to Financial Statements for period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013 and for period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of
Operations) to December 31, 2012

F-6

39

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiary

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiary (the “Company”) as of April 30, 2013 and December
31, 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the four month period ended April 30,
2013 and for the period from February 2, 2012 (date of commencement of operations) through December 31, 2012. These consolidated financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiary,
as of April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and for the
period from February 2, 2012 (date of commencement of operations) through December 31, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

/s/ Marcum llp
New York, NY
August 28, 2013
F-1

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiaries
(formerly known as Gravis Oil Corporation)
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of
April 30, 2013

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable

$

Interest receivable, related party
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

December 31, 2012

5,703,082
31,394

$

-

34,658
22,112
6,528,864

-

58,390
5,792,866

Total Current Assets
Oil and gas assets, net
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $310,700
Related Party Long-term receivable, net
Reclamation deposits
Other assets

13,423,089
4,538

12,254,519

-

825,000

25,000
5,500
13,458,127

-

-

-

13,079,519

Total Assets

$

19,250,993

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

871,094

$

Accrued interest payable
Current portion of asset retirement obligations

Long-term liabilities:
Asset retirement obligations , net of current portion
Notes payable
Total Long-Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities

19,608,383

102,410

1,277,572

-

Total Current Liabilities

6,472,094

213,302

-

1,084,396

1,379,982

549,734

143,035

-

549,734
1,634,130

19,999,983
20,143,018
21,523,000

-

-

-

-

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency):
Preferred Shares - 5,000,000 authorized; par value $0.00001 per share
Preferred B shares - 29,500 authorized; 0 issued with a $100 stated value, par value $0.00001 per
share
Common shares - 2,250,000,000 authorized; par value $0.00001 per share; Issued and

outstanding; 737,117,746 and 575,541,561

7,371
20,317,094
(2,707,602 )
17,616,863

Additional paid-in capital
Members’ deficiency and accumulated deficit
Total Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency)

$

19,250,993

5,756
(4,756)
(1,915,617 )
(1,914,617 )
$

19,608,383

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiaries
(formerly known as Gravis Oil Corporation)
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Period

February 2, 2012
(Commencement of
Operations)
to December 31, 2012

For the Period

January 1, 2013 to
April 30, 2013
Operations
Revenue and Other Income
Oil and natural gas sales
Total Income

$

184,676
184,676

$

16,901
16,901

Operating Expenses
Operating
General and administrative
Depreciation, depletion and accretion
Impairment of excess purchase price
Total Expenses

623,136
29,304
1,093,527
1,890,406

Operating loss

(1,705,730 )

(672,703)

5,174
(619,178)
(614,004)

34,658
(1,277,572 )
(1,242,914 )

82,663
526,460
80,481

144,439

Other (income) expenses
Interest and other Income
Interest expense
Total other expenses

-

689,604

Net Loss

$

(2,319,734 )

$

(1,915,617 )

Net Loss per Common Share
Basic and Diluted

$

(0.00)

$

(0.00)

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding - Basic and Diluted

584,966,838

402,985,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiaries
(formerly known as Gravis Oil Corporation)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
For the Period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through April 30, 2013

Total
Common
February 2, 2012 (Commencement of operations)
Shares issued for conversion of convertible notes
and accrued interest
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2012
Shares issued for conversion of convertible notes
and accrued interest
Shares issued in reverse merger
Recapitalization of Petro River LLC’s accumulated
losses through the date of merger
Stock based compensation
Dividend distribution
Net loss
Balance at April 30, 2013

Shares
27,556

Additional
Paid-in

Common
Amount

$

1

Stockholders’

Capital
$
999

575,514,005

5,755

-

-

575,541,561

5,756

15,479,450
146,096,735

155
1,460

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

737,117,746

$

7,371

Accumulated
Deficit
$
-

(5,755)
(4,756)

-

$

20,317,094

-

(1,915,617 )
(1,915,617 )

21,896,578
1,115,944
(2,691,279)
607

Equity (Deficiency)
$
1,000

(1,915,617 )
(1,914,617 )
21,896,733
1,117,404

-

2,691,279

-

607
(1,163,530)
(2,319,734 )

-

(1,163,530)
(2,319,734 )
(2,707,602 )

$

17,616,863

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Petro River Oil Corp. and Subsidiaries
(formerly known as Gravis Oil Corporation)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Period

February 2, 2012
(Commencement of
Operations) to
December 31, 2012

For the Period

January 1, 2013 to
April 30, 2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

$

(2,319,734 )

$

25,087
607
4,217
1,093,527

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of asset retirement obligation
Impairment of excess purchase price
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Interest receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

(1,915,617)
80,481
-

(31,394)
43,278

-

(22,112)
(34,658)

-

(5,500)
(99,514)
619,178
(670,248)

-

102,410

1,277,572
(511,924)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
(98,764)

Capitalized expenditures on oil and gas assets
Issuance of notes receivable to related party
Net Cash Provided Used in Investing Activities

(12,191,965)
(825,000)
(13,016,965 )

-

(98,764)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of notes
Capital contributions

-

19,999,983

-

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

-

1,000
20,000,983

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

(769,012)
6,472,094
5,703,082

6,472,094
-

$

6,472,094

$
$

-

$
$
$

-

143,035

$

-

SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash Paid During the Period for:
Income taxes
Interest paid

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Conversion of notes and accrued interest into shares of common stock
Recognition of asset retirement obligation

Dividend distribution

$
$

-

$
$
$

21,896,733

-

-

1,163,530

-

-

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in reverse merger:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property and equipment
Oil and gas assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Asset retirement obligations
Net assets acquired
Consideration for net assets acquired
Excess purchase price

$

$

104,556
4,538
1,093,991
(563,424)
(615,784 )
23,877
1,117,404
1,093,527

-

$

-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

1.

Organization and Liquidity:

Petro River Oil Corp (the “ Company ”) is an enterprise engaged in the exploration and exploitation of heavy oil properties. On September 7, 2012 a shareholder

meeting was held to amend the Articles of the Corporation to change the name of the Company from Gravis Oil Corporation to Petro River Oil Corp. The
Company’s principal administrative office is located in Houston, Texas and its principal operations are in Kansas and Western Missouri.

The Company was originally incorporated under the Company Act (British Columbia) on February 8, 2000 under the name Brockton Capital Corp. The
Company then changed its name to MegaWest Energy Corp. effective February 27, 2010 before changing it to Gravis Oil Corp. on June 20, 2011. On
September 11, 2012, the Company re-organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. Prior to September 11, 2012, and at April 30, 2012, the Company
was organized under the laws of Alberta, Canada. This re-organization had no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Petro River Oil LLC (“ Petro”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on March 3, 2011. Through proceeds received from the issuance of
various promissory notes, on February 1, 2012 Petro purchased various interests in oil and gas leases, wells, records, data and related personal property
located along the Mississippi Lime play in the state of Kansas from Metro Energy Corporation (“ Metro”), a Louisiana company and other interrelated entities,
entities of which were in financial distress. These assets were purchased by Petro from Metro through a court approved order for which Metro was undergoing
Chapter 11 Bankruptcy proceedings as a Debtor-In-Possession of these various oil and gas assets. Petro purchased these assets for cash considerations of
$2,000,000 as well as a 25% Non-Managing membership interest in the Company. Subsequent to the Metro purchase the Company engaged Energy Source
Advisors to renew a number of the leases acquired in the Metro purchase and to lease additional acreage. As a result of the asset purchase from Metro and the
completion of the additional lease renewals and additional acreage purchases, the Company obtained a total of 115,000 gross/85,000 net acres of leases,
having unproven reserves at the time of acquisition, in the Mississippi Lime play in Southeast Kansas for total cost of $12.2 million.

On April 23, 2013, the Company executed and consummated a securities purchase agreement by and among the Company, Petro, the holders of outstanding
secured promissory notes of Petro (the “ Notes”), and the members (the “ Petro Members ”) of Petro holding membership interests in Petro (the “ Membership
Interests”), and together with the Notes and the Membership Interests, the “ Acquired Securities ”) sold by the Company (the “ Securities Purchase Agreement ”
and the transaction, the “ Share Exchange ”).
In the Share Exchange, the Investors exchanged their Acquired Securities for 591,021,011 newly issued shares of common stock of the Company (“ Common
Stock”). As a result, upon completion of the Share Exchange, Petro became the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary.

As a result of the Share Exchange, the Company acquired 100% of the member units of Petro and consequently, control of the business and operations of
Petro. Under generally accepted accounting principles in the Unites States, (“U.S. GAAP”) because Petro’s former members’ and note holders held 80% of the
issued and outstanding shares of the Company as a result of the Share Exchange, Petro is deemed the accounting acquirer while the Company remains the
legal acquirer. Petro adopted the fiscal year of the Company and its operations for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to April
30, 2012 were not material. Prior to the Share Exchange, all historical financial statements presented are that of Petro. The equity of the Company is the
historical equity of Petro, retrospectively restated to reflect the number of shares issued by the Company in the transaction.
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

Liquidity and Management Plans
The Company is focused on developing its recently acquired Mississippi Lime acreage in Kansas and also its heavy oil properties in Missouri and Kentucky.
Early reservoir projects in Kansas were focused on establishing proved reserve potential into the Bourbon Arch geological region of the Mississippi Lime play.
The production response from this region established migration and asset production potential. The Company also engaged an extensive geologic study of its
leasehold position using over 26,000 producers and 60 square miles of a proprietary 3D data set.

Projects related to the heavy oil reservoirs were in technical review. The Company has an extensive amount of technical and reservoir information on both
Missouri and Kansas positions. The data is being utilized in the understanding and test phases to develop an economic heavy oil production reserve base.

The ultimate goal of the management of the Company is to maximize shareholder value. Specific targets include: increasing production by developing its
acreage, increasing profitability margins by evaluating and optimizing its production, and executing its business plan to increase property values, prove its
reserves, and expand its asset base.

As of April 30, 2013, the Company has working capital of approximately $4.7 million but has incurred losses since it commenced operations and utilized
cash in its operating activities to date. In addition, Petro has a limited operating history. At April 30, 2013, the Company has cash and cash equivalents of
approximately $5.7 million. Management believes that the current level of working capital is sufficient to maintain operations for at least the next 12 months.
Management intends to continue to raise capital through debt and equity instruments in order to achieve its business plans.

2.

Basis of Preparation:

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“US GAAP ”) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
These consolidated financial statements include the below wholly-owned subsidiaries:

Petro River Oil LLC, and MegaWest Energy USA Corp. and its wholly owned subsidiaries:
MegaWest Energy Texas Corp.
MegaWest Energy Kentucky Corp.
MegaWest Energy Missouri Corp.
MegaWest Energy Kansas Corp.
MegaWest Energy Montana Corp.
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

3.

Significant Accounting Policies:

(a)

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates
include volumes of oil and natural gas reserves, abandonment obligations, impairment of oil and natural gas properties, depreciation, depletion and
accretion, income taxes, fair value of derivatives liabilities and other financial instruments, and contingencies.
Oil and gas proven reserve estimates, which are the basis for unit-of-production depletion and the full cost ceiling test, have a number of inherent
uncertainties. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and
judgment. Results of drilling, testing, and production subsequent to the date of the estimate may justify revision of such estimate. Accordingly,
reserve estimates are often different from the quantities of oil and gas that are ultimately recovered. In addition, reserve estimates are vulnerable to
changes in prices of crude oil and gas. Such prices have been volatile in the past and can be expected to be volatile in the future. As of April 30, 2013
and December 31, 2013, Petro had no estimated proven reserves.

(b)

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid monetary instruments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. These investments are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash deposits. The Company maintains its cash in institutions insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“ FDIC”). At times, the Company’s cash and cash equivalent balances may be uninsured or in amounts that exceed the FDIC
insurance limits.

(c)

Oil and Gas Operations:

Oil and Gas Properties: The Company uses the full-cost method of accounting for its exploration and development activities. Under this method of
accounting, the costs of both successful and unsuccessful exploration and development activities are capitalized as oil and gas property and
equipment. Proceeds from the sale or disposition of oil and gas properties are accounted for as a reduction to capitalized costs unless the gain or loss
would significantly alter the relationship between capitalized costs and proved reserves of oil and natural gas attributable to a country, in which case

a gain or loss would be recognized in the statement of operations. The Company has defined a cost center by country. Currently, all of the
Company’s oil and gas properties are located within the continental United States, its sole cost center.
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

Oil and gas properties may include costs that are excluded from costs being depleted. Oil and gas costs excluded represent investments in unproved
properties and major development projects in which the Company owns a direct interest. These unproved property costs include nonproducing
leasehold, geological and geophysical costs associated with leasehold or drilling interests and in process exploration drilling costs. All costs excluded
are reviewed at least quarterly to determine if impairment has occurred.

The Company accounts for its unproven long-lived assets in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 360-10-05,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” ASC Topic 360-10-05 requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the historical cost carrying value of an asset may no longer be appropriate. The Company
performed a comparable study of unproven long-lived assets as of April 30, 2013 and determined that none of its long-term assets at April 30, 2013
were impaired

Proved Oil and Gas Reserves : In accordance with Rule 4-10 of SEC Regulation S-X, proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of
crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future
years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. All the oil and gas properties with proven reserves were impaired to
the salvage value prior to the merger. The price used to establish economic producibility is the average price during the 12-month period preceding the
end of the entity’s fiscal year and calculated as the un-weighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such 12month period.

Ceiling Test: Under the full-cost method of accounting, a ceiling test is performed quarterly. The full-cost ceiling test is an impairment test prescribed
by SEC Regulation S-X Rule 4-10. The ceiling test determines a limit on the carrying value of oil and gas properties. The capitalized costs of proved
oil and gas properties, net of accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment and the related deferred income taxes, may not
exceed the estimated future net cash flows from proved oil and gas reserves, excluding future cash outflows associated with settling asset retirement
obligations that have been accrued on the balance sheet, generally using current prices (with consideration of price changes only to the extent provided
by contractual arrangements) as of the date of the latest balance sheet presented and including the effect of derivative instruments that qualify as cash
flow hedges, discounted at 10%, net of related tax effects, plus the cost of un evaluated properties and major development projects excluded from the
costs being amortized. If capitalized costs exceed this limit, the excess is charged to expense and reflected as additional accumulated depreciation,
depletion, amortization and impairment. In the application of the full-cost method, the term “current price” means the average price during the 12month period prior to the end of the entity’s fiscal year determined as the un-weighted arithmetical average of the prices on the first day of each month
within the 12-month period.

Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization: Depletion, depreciation and amortization is provided using the unit-of-production method based upon
estimates of proved oil and gas reserves with oil and gas production being converted to a common unit of measure based upon their relative energy
content. For the four months ended April 30, 2013, all oil and gas reserves were classified as unproven. Investments in unproved properties and
major development projects are not amortized until proved reserves associated with the projects can be determined or until impairment occurs. If the

results of an assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is deducted from the capitalized costs to be
amortized. Once the assessment of unproved properties is complete and when major development projects are evaluated, the costs previously excluded
from amortization are transferred to the full cost pool and amortization begins. The amortizable base includes estimated future development costs
and, where significant, dismantlement, restoration and abandonment costs, net of estimated salvage value.
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

In arriving at rates under the unit-of-production method, the quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves are established based on estimates
made by the Company’s geologists and engineers which require significant judgment, as does the projection of future production volumes and levels
of future costs, including future development costs. In addition, considerable judgment is necessary in determining when unproved properties
become impaired and in determining the existence of proved reserves once a well has been drilled. All of these judgments may have significant impact
on the calculation of depletion expenses. There have been no material changes in the methodology used by the Company in calculating depletion of oil

and gas properties under the full cost method during the four months ended April 30, 2013 and for the period from February 2, 2012
(Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012.
(d)

Asset Retirement Obligations:

The Company recognizes a liability for the estimated fair value of site restoration and abandonment costs when the obligations are legally incurred
and the fair value can be reasonably estimated. The fair value of the obligations is based on the estimated cash flow required to settle the obligations
discounted using the Company’s credit adjusted risk-free interest rate. The obligation is recorded as a liability with a corresponding increase in the
carrying amount of the oil and gas assets. The capitalized amount will be depleted on a unit-of-production method. The liability is increased each
period, or accretes, due to the passage of time and a corresponding amount is recorded in the statement of operations.
Revisions to the estimated fair value would result in an adjustment to the liability and the capitalized amount in oil and gas assets.
(e)

Oil and Gas Revenue:

Sales of oil and gas, net of any royalties, are recognized when oil has been delivered to a custody transfer point, persuasive evidence of a sales
arrangement exists, the rights and responsibility of ownership pass to the purchaser upon delivery, collection of revenue from the sale is reasonably
assured, and the sales price is fixed or determinable. The Company sells oil and gas on a monthly basis. Virtually all of its contracts’ pricing
provisions are tied to a market index, with certain adjustments based on, among other factors, whether a well delivers to a gathering or transmission
line, the quality of the oil and gas, and prevailing supply and demand conditions, so that the price of the oil and gas fluctuates to remain competitive
with other available oil supplies.
(f)

Stock-Based Compensation:

Generally, all forms of stock-based compensation, including stock option grants, warrants, and restricted stock grants are measured at their fair
value utilizing an option pricing model on the award’s grant date, based on the estimated number of awards that are ultimately expected to vest.
Share-based compensation awards issued to non-employees for services rendered are recorded at either the fair value of the services rendered or the
fair value of the share-based payment, whichever is more readily determinable. The expenses resulting from stock-based compensation are recorded
as general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations, depending on the nature of the services provided.
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(g)

Income Taxes:

Prior to the Share Exchange, Petro was not subject to income taxes in any jurisdiction. The members of Petro were responsible for the tax liability, if
any, related to Petro’s taxable income. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes was reflected in the accompanying financial statements. The Petro
members have concluded that Petro was a pass-through entity and there were no uncertain tax positions that would require recognition in the financial
statements. If Petro were to incur an income tax liability in the future, interest on any income tax liability would be reported as interest expense and
penalties on any income tax liability would be reported as income taxes. For the periods ended April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, no interest and
penalties were required to be recorded. The Members’ conclusions regarding uncertain tax positions may be subject to review and adjustment at a
later date based upon ongoing analyses of tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof as well as other factors. At the time of the share exchange,
all undistributed losses were closed to additional paid in capital.

Subsequent to the Share Exchange, the Company applies the elements of ASC 740-10 “Income Taxes — Overall” regarding accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes. This clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements and requires the impact
of a tax position to be recognized in the financial statements if that position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority. As of
April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits. The Company does not expect that the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months.
Deferred taxes are computed based on the tax liability or benefit in future years of the reversal of temporary differences in the recognition of income or
deduction of expenses between financial and tax reporting purposes. The net difference, if any, between the provision for taxes and taxes currently
payable is reflected in the balance sheet as deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets and/or liabilities, if any, are classified as current and non-current based
on the classification of the related asset or liability for financial reporting purposes, or based on the expected reversal date for deferred taxes that are
not related to an asset or liability. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to that amount which is more likely than not to be
realized.

(h)

Per Share Amounts:

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net earnings (loss) per common share is determined using the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. In periods when losses are reported, which is the
case for the four months ended April 30, 2013 and the period February 2, 2012 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 2012 presented in
these consolidated financial statements, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents because
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Common share equivalents excluded an aggregate of 520,000 and 0 shares of common stock for the four
months ended April, 2013 and the period February 2, 2012 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 2012, respectively.
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The Company had the following common stock equivalents at April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

As at
Stock Options
Compensation Warrants

April 30, 2013
290,000

December 31, 2012

230,000

520,000
(j)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

All financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and accounts payable are to be recognized on
the balance sheet initially at its carrying value. The carrying value of these assets approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities.

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses financial assets for impairment with any impairment recorded in the consolidated statement of
operations. To assess loans and receivables for impairment, the Company evaluates the probability of collection of accounts receivable and records
an allowance for doubtful accounts, which reduces loans and receivables to the amount management reasonably believes will be collected. In
determining the amount of the allowance, the following factors are considered: the length of the time the receivable has been outstanding, specific
knowledge of each customer’s financial condition and historical experience.

Market risk is the risk that changes in commodity prices will affect the Company’s oil sales, cash flows or the value of its financial instruments.
The objective of commodity price risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits while maximizing
returns.

The Company is exposed to changes in oil prices which impact its revenues and to changes in natural gas process which impact its operating
expenses.

The Company does not utilize financial derivatives or other contracts to manage commodity price risks.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (exit price).

Fair value measurements are categorized using a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs used to measure fair value, which prioritize the
inputs into three broad levels:
Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
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Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the
reported date, and include those financial instruments that are valued using models or other valuation methodologies.
Level 3 - Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. These inputs may be used with internally
developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value.

(k)

Subsequent Events:
The Company evaluates subsequent events through the date when consolidated financial statements are issued.

(l)

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation. As of December 31, 2012, Petro previously
reserved a recorded asset value by $143,035 the related asset retirement obligation. The reclassification of the asset retirement obligation to a liability
increased the oil and gas assets by the corresponding amount. The recognition did not have an effect on the Company’s results of operations or cash
flows during the period ended December 31, 2012.
(m)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, an amendment to FASB ASC Topic 220. The update requires disclosure of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to present either on the face of the statement of operations or in the notes,
significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income but only if the amount
reclassified is required to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period. For amounts not reclassified in their entirety to net

income, an entity is required to cross-reference to other disclosures that provide additional detail about those amounts. This ASU is effective
prospectively for the Company’s fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2012. The pronouncement did
not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued ASU No. 2013-04, “Liabilities (Topic 405): Obligations Resulting
from Joint and Several Liability Arrangements for which the Total Amount of the Obligation Is Fixed at the Reporting Date.” This ASU addresses the
recognition, measurement, and disclosure of certain obligations resulting from joint and several arrangements including debt arrangements, other
contractual obligations, and settled litigation and judicial rulings. The ASU is effective for public entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. Management does not expect the pronouncement to have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-05, “Foreign Currency Matters (Topic 830): Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation
Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity.” This
ASU addresses the accounting for the cumulative translation adjustment when a parent either sells a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity or
no longer holds a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or a business within a foreign entity. The
guidance outlines the events when cumulative translation adjustments should be released into net income and is intended by the FASB to eliminate
some disparity in current accounting practice. This ASU is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning
after December 15, 2013. Management does not expect the pronouncement to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-07, “Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205): Liquidation Basis of Accounting.” The
amendments require an entity to prepare its financial statements using the liquidation basis of accounting when liquidation is imminent. Liquidation
is imminent when the likelihood is remote that the entity will return from liquidation and either (a) a plan for liquidation is approved by the person or
persons with the authority to make such a plan effective and the likelihood is remote that the execution of the plan will be blocked by other parties or
(b) a plan for liquidation is being imposed by other forces (for example, involuntary bankruptcy). If a plan for liquidation was specified in the
entity’s governing documents from the entity’s inception (for example, limited-life entities), the entity should apply the liquidation basis of accounting
only if the approved plan for liquidation differs from the plan for liquidation that was specified at the entity’s inception. The amendments require
financial statements prepared using the liquidation basis of accounting to present relevant information about an entity’s expected resources in

liquidation by measuring and presenting assets at the amount of the expected cash proceeds from liquidation. The entity should include in its
presentation of assets any items it had not previously recognized under U.S. GAAP but that it expects to either sell in liquidation or use in settling
liabilities (for example, trademarks). The amendments are effective for entities that determine liquidation is imminent during annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2013, and interim reporting periods therein. Entities should apply the requirements prospectively from the day that

liquidation becomes imminent. Early adoption is permitted. Management does not expect the pronouncement to have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective accounting pronouncements, if adopted, would have a material effect
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Note 4: Reverse Acquisition

Prior to the reverse acquisition, the existing shareholders of the Company (the Legal Acquirer) held 146,096,735 or 20% of the outstanding shares of the
common stock. Based on the overall market capitalization of the Company at the time of the share exchange, the aggregate fair value of these shares (20% of the
market capitalization) was $1,117,404, which exceeded the fair value of the net assets acquired by $1,093,527.
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Purchase price allocation
Prepaid expenses
Property and equipment
Oil and gas assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Asset retirement obligations

$

$

104,556
4,538
1,093,991
(563,424)
(615,784)

Net assets acquired

$

23,877

Consideration for net assets acquired
Excess purchase price

$
$

1,117,404
1,093,527

The Company prior to the merger, impaired its assets to net salvage value and determined upon consummation of the merger the excess purchase price paid for

the assets continued to be impaired, thus the Company recognized an immediate charge of $1,093,527 in its accompanying consolidated statement of
operations for the four months period ended April 30, 2013.

The following table summarizes, on an unaudited pro forma basis, the results of operations of the Company as though the acquisition had occurred as of
February 2, 2012 (Commencement of operations). The pro forma amounts give effect to appropriate adjustments of amortization of intangible assets and
interest expense associated with the financing of the purchase. The pro forma amounts presented are not necessarily indicative of either the actual operation
results had the acquisition transaction occurred as of February 2, 2012 and as of January 1, 2013.

$

Revenues
Net loss

Loss per share of common stock
Basic and diluted

April 30, 2013
184,676
(2,276,797)
(0.00)
737,117,746

December 31, 2012
16,901
(2,216,470)
(0.00)
737,117,746
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5.

Oil and Gas Assets:

The following table summarizes the oil and gas assets by project:

Cost
February 2, 2012
Additions
Asset retirement obligations
Depreciation, Depletion and amortization
Balance December 31, 2012
Assets acquired in reverse merger
Additions
Excess purchase price paid
Impairment of excess purchase price
Depreciation, Depletion and amortization
Balance April 30, 2013

Missouri

$

$

Kansas

Montana

Kentucky
-

$

Total

Other
-

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,254,519

-

918,991

-

75,000

-

100,000

12,191,965
143,035
(80,481)

-

98,764
1,093,527
(1,093,527)

-

-

$ 918,991

$

-

-

-

75,000

(24,185)
$ 12,329,098

-

$ 100,000

$

-

12,191,965
143,035
(80,481)

12,254,519
1,093,991
98,764
1,093,527
(1,093,527)
(24,185)
$ 13,423,089

The Company performed a test of oil and gas assets as of April 30, 2013, and concluded that the excess purchase price paid for its Missouri property exceeded
it net realizable value, and as a result it recognized an impairment in the amount of $1,093,527.

The following are descriptions of the Company’s oil and gas assets. The assets are disclosed based on the historical ownership of both Petro and the
Company.
Kansas
Through proceeds received from the issuance of various promissory notes, on February 1, 2012 Petro purchased various interests in oil and gas leases, wells,
records, data and related personal property located along the Mississippi Lime play in the state of Kansas from Metro Energy Corporation (“Metro”)., a
Louisiana company and other interrelated entities, entities of which were in financial distress. These assets were purchased by Petro from Metro through a
court approved order for which Metro was undergoing Chapter 11 Bankruptcy proceedings as a Debtor-In-Possession of these various oil and gas assets. Petro
purchased these assets for cash considerations of $2,000,000 as well as a 25% Non-Managing membership interest in the Company. Subsequent to the Metro
purchase the Company engaged Energy Source Advisors to renew a number of the leases acquired in the Metro purchase and to lease additional acreage. As a
result of the asset purchase from Metro and the completion of the additional lease renewals and additional acreage purchases, the Company obtained a total of
115,000 gross/85,000 net acres of leases, having unproven reserves at the time of acquisition, in the Mississippi Lime play in Southeast Kansas for total cost
of $12.2 million. The Company also acquired over 60 square miles of proprietary 3D seismic data over prospective Mississippi Lime acreage in the same
area.
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Kentucky
As a result of the share exchange, the Company acquired Kentucky lease holdings which include a 37.5 % working interest in 27,150 unproved gross acres
(10,181 net acres). The Kentucky property is mainly undeveloped land and therefore was not assigned any reserve value under the Company’s independent
reserve reports.
Currently, the Company is carrying these oil and gas assets at $-, the carrying value of the assets acquired through the share exchange.

Missouri
At April 30, 2013, the Company’s Missouri lease holdings totaled 22,832 gross acres with 98.4% working interest.

On separate pilot projects at Deerfield, the Company built two 500 barrel of oil per day steam drive production facilities (Marmaton River and Grassy Creek)
comprised of 116 production wells, 39 steam injection wells and 14 service and observation wells. Throughout the Deerfield area, the Company have drilled
73 exploration/delineation wells with a 67% success rate.

As of April 30, 2013, all Missouri assets were carried at salvage value, since the Company’s current business plans do not contemplate raising the necessary
capital to develop these properties.

Montana
The Montana leasehold is in the Devils Basin prospect and totals 1,175 gross acres (881 net). The Company currently owns a 75% working interest in this
prospect, but has no immediate plans to develop this property. On April 17, 2012 the Teton Prospect leases totaling 2,807 gross acres (1137 net) expired.
As of April 30, 2013, all Montana assets were carried at salvage value.

Other
Other property consists primarily of four used steam generators and related equipment that will be assigned to future projects. As of April 30, 2013,
management concluded that impairment was not necessary as all other assets were carried at salvage value.

6.

Asset Retirement Obligations:

The total future asset retirement obligation was estimated based on the Company’s ownership interest in all wells and facilities, the estimated legal obligations
required to retire, dismantle, abandon and reclaim the wells and facilities and the estimated timing of such payments. The Company estimated the present
value of its asset retirement obligations at April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, based on a future undiscounted liability of $1,087,292 and $192,000,
respectively. These costs are expected to be incurred within one to 24 years. A credit-adjusted risk-free discount rate of 10% and an inflation rate of 2% were
used to calculate the present value.
F-17

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012
Changes to the asset retirement obligation were as follows:

$

Balance, beginning of period
Additions
Disposition
Revisions
Accretion

Less: Current portion for cash flows expected to be incurred within one
year
Long-term portion, end of period

April 30, 2013
143,035
615,784

December 31, 2012

$

-

-

-

-

4,217
763,036

143,035

-

(213,302)

$

-

143,035

549,734

-

$

143,035

As of April 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company has $25,000 and $0 of reclamation deposits with authorities to secure certain abandonment
liabilities in Missouri.
Expected timing of asset retirement obligations:
Year Ended April 30

2014

213,302

2015
2016
2017

122,222
135,556
273,181

Thereafter

343,031

Effect of discount
Total

7.

$

1,087,292
(324,256)
763,036

Notes payable:

For the period from February 2, 2012 (commencement of operations) through December 31, 2012, the Company received proceeds from the issuance of
promissory notes of $19,999,983. Advances under each bear interest, accruing with respect to each advance from the date of such advance, at the rate of
10% per annum, compounding annually, with a maturity of February 10, 2015. The Notes were entered into contemporaneously with and were secured by
certain Mortgage, Assignment of Production, Security Agreement and Financing Statement dated of even date herewith (for up to an aggregate Principal Amount
of up to $20,000,000).

The Company recorded interest expense of $619,178 and $1,277,572 for the four months ended April 30, 2013 and for the period February 2, 2012
(commencement of operations) through December 31, 2012, respectively. On April 23, 2013, as part of the share exchange transaction, the notes and accrued
interest aggregating $21,896,733 were converted into 590,993,455 shares of the Company’s common stock.
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8.

Members’ and Stockholders’ Equity:

As of April 30, 2013, the Company had 5,000,000 shares of blank check preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.00001 per share. None of the
blank check preferred shares were issued or outstanding.
As of April 30, 2013, the Company had 29,500 shares of preferred B shares authorized with a par value of $0.00001 per share. No preferred B shares were
issued or outstanding as of April 30, 2013.

9.

Stock Based Compensation:

As of April 30, 2013, the Company has one equity incentive plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance in aggregate under the plan is limited to 90
million shares. The exercise price, term and vesting schedule of stock options granted are set by the board of directors at the time of grant. Stock options
granted under the plan may be exercised on a cashless basis, if such exercise is approved by the Board. In a cashless exercise, the employee receives a lesser
amount of shares in lieu of paying the exercise price based on the quoted market price of the shares on the trading day immediately preceding the exercise date.
The following table summarizes the changes in stock options:
Weighted

Avg.
Number of

Exercise
Price

Options

$

Outstanding, February 2, 2012
Granted

-

-

Expired
Forfeited
Cancelled

-

-

-

-

Outstanding, December 31, 2012
Granted/Acquired in reverse merger

-

-

-

Expired
Forfeited
Cancelled

-

$

-

290,000

0.50

-

-

-

-

-

Outstanding, April 30, 2013
Exercisable on April 30, 2013

290,000
290,000

-

$
$

0.50
0.50

On April 23, 2013, as a result of the share exchange and reverse merger, the Company inherited the outstanding options of the legal acquirer. These options
were previously issued and are fully vested at the time of the share exchange agreement.

During the four months ended April 30, 2013 and for the period February 2, 2012 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 2012, the Company
recorded stock-based compensation expenses of $607 and $-, respectively.
As of April 30, 2013, total compensation cost related to non-vested stock options not yet recognized is $-.
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The following table summarizes information about the options outstanding and exercisable at April 30, 2013:

Options

Exercise Price

$

0.50

290,000

Aggregate Intrinsic Value

Options Outstanding
Weighted Avg.
Life Remaining
1.01 years
$

Options Exercisable
Weighted Avg.
Options
Exercise Price

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price

0.50

290,000 $

0.50

-

$

-

$

Intrinsic value is the Company’s current per share fair value as quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board on the balance sheet date $0.40 less the current
exercise price.

In addition, the Company inherited 230,000 outstanding warrants of the legal acquirer. These warrants were previously issued to consultants of the Company
and are deemed to be fully vested at the time of the reverse merger. The warrants are exercisable at $0.50 per share until April 5, 2014
Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price

Number of
Warrants
Outstanding and exercisable, February 2, 2012
Granted
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2012
Acquired in reverse merger
Outstanding and exercisable, April 30, 2013

-

Aggregate Intrinsic Value

10.

$

Weighted Avg.
Life Remaining
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

230,000
230,000

0.65

$

0.50
0.50

$

-

0.65 years

Related Party Transactions:

During the period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2012, the Company entered into a series of demand promissory notes
totaling $825,000 with Petro. The demand promissory notes bear interest at 8% per annum and are due two business days after receipt of demand for
payment. In an event of default, the notes bear a default rate of 15% per annum. The notes are unsecured.

During the period January 1, 2013 to April 30, 2013, the Company entered into a series of demand promissory notes totaling $256,950 with Petro. The
demand promissory notes bear interest at 8% per annum and are due two business days after receipt of demand for payment. In an event of default, the notes
bear a default rate of 15% per annum. The notes are unsecured.
As a result of the share exchange agreement, on April 23, 2013, the balance of the aforementioned demand promissory notes and accrued interest totaling
$1,163,530 which was converted to equity and was reclassified from equity to a liability and was deemed as a dividend distribution.
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

11.

Segment Information:

Petro presently has one reportable business segment, that being oil and gas exploration and exploitation. Petro’s corporate and administrative operations are
conducted in the United States, while predominantly all of the oil and gas properties and operations are located in the United States at April 30, 2013.

Four Months ended April 30, 2013
USA
Consolidated
$
184,676
$
184,676
(2,504,410 )
(2,504,410 )
(-)
(2,319,734 )
(2,319,734 )
100,000
13,323,089
13,423,089
4,538
4,538
100,000
993,991
1,093,991
98,764
98,764

Canada
$

Revenue

Expenses
Net loss
Oil and gas assets
Property and equipment
Oil and gas asset additions (reverse merger)
Oil and gas additions
Oil and gas asset impairment
Property and equipment additions (reverse merger)

-

-

-

-

4,538

4,538

Period February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations)

Canada
Revenue

$

Expenses
Net loss
Oil and gas assets
Property and equipment
Oil and gas asset additions
Oil and gas asset impairment
Property and equipment additions

to December 31, 2012
USA
$
16,901
(1,932,518)
(1,915,617)
12,254,519

Consolidated

$

16,901
(1,932,518)
(1,915,617)
12,254,519

-

-

-

-

12,254,519

12,254,519

-

-

-

-

-

-
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012

12.

Income Taxes:

As of April 30, 2013, the Company had approximately $3,500,000 of net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”). The NOLs expires beginning in 2027. As of
December 31, 2012, Petro LLC had no NOL carryovers since it was considered to be a non-taxable flow-through entity. The U.S. net operating loss carryovers
are subject to limitation under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 should there be a greater than 50% ownership change as determined under the regulations.
Management has determined that a change in ownership occurred as a result of the share exchange on April 23, 2013. Therefore, the net operating loss
carryovers are subject to an annual limitation of approximately $156,000.
The income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:

For the period

February 2, 2012
(Commencement
of operations) to
December 31, 2012

For the period

January 1, 2013 to
April 30, 2013
Foreign

$

Current

$

-

-

(562,868)

Deferred

U.S. Federal
Current

-

-

-

22,735,263

Deferred

U.S. State & Local
Current
Deferred

-

-

2,758,372

-

(24,930,767 )

Change in valuation allowance
Income tax provision (benefit)

$

$

-

-

The Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) consisted of the effects of temporary differences attributable to the following:

December 31, 2012

April 30, 2013

$

U.S. Net operating loss carryovers
Depreciation and depletion
Accretion of asset retirement obligation
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance

$
$

1,203,780
15,017,106
214,638
16,435,524
(16,435,524)
-

$

-

$

-
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012
The expected tax expense (benefit) based on the statutory rate is reconciled with actual tax expense benefit as follows:

For the period from

February 2, 2012
For the period from

(Commencement
of operations) to
December 31, 2012

January 1, 2013 to
April 30, 2013
U.S. federal statutory rate
State income tax, net of federal benefit
Impairment of excess purchase price
Non-taxable flow through loss from Petro
Section 382 NOL impairment
Foreign deferred tax write down
Other permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Income tax provision (benefit)

(34.00)%
(4.13)%

17.97%
12.75%
1098.96%
(24.26)%
7.44
(1074.73)%
0.00%

(34)%

34%

0%
0%

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient future taxable income during the period that deductible temporary differences and carry forwards
are expected to be available to reduce taxable income. As the achievement of required future taxable income is uncertain, the Company recorded a valuation
allowance.

13.

Contingency and Contractual Obligations:

As a result of the Share Exchange, the Company inherited the following contingencies:
(a) In January 2010, the Company experienced a flood in its Calgary office premises as a result of a broken water pipe. There was significant damage to
the premises rendering them unusable until remediation had been completed by the landlord. Pursuant to the lease contract, the Company has asserted
that rent should be abated during the remediation process and accordingly, the Company has not paid rent since December 2009. During the
remediation process, the Company engaged an independent environmental testing company to test for air quality and for the existence of other
potentially hazardous conditions. The testing revealed the existence of potentially hazardous mold and the consultant provided specific written
instructions for the effective remediation of the premises. During the remediation process, the landlord did not follow the consultant’s instructions
and correct the potentially hazardous mold situation and subsequently in June 2010 gave notice and declared the premises to be ready for occupancy.
The Company re-engaged the consultant to re-test the premises and the testing results again revealed the presence of potentially hazardous mold. The
Company has determined that the premises are not fit for re-occupancy and considers the landlord to be in default of the lease and the lease
terminated.

The landlord disputes the Company’s position and has given notice that it considers the Company to be in default of the lease for failure to re-occupy
the premises.
In addition, the landlord has claimed that the Company owes monthly rent for the premises from January 2010 to June 30, 2010 in the amount of
$247,348 and has claimed that, as a result of the alleged default, pursuant to the terms of the lease, the Company owes three months accelerated rent
in the amount of $114,837. The landlord has also asserted that the Company would be liable for an amount up to the full lease obligation of
$1,596,329 which otherwise would have been due as follows:
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PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.
(formerly Gravis Oil Corporation)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the four month period ended April 30, 2013 and
for the period from February 2, 2012 (Commencement of Operations) through December 31, 2012
Year Ended April 30

2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter
Total

$

473,055
473,055
473,055
177,164

$

1,596,329

-

To date, no legal action has been commenced by the landlord and the cost, if any, to the Company is not determinable. Accordingly, no amounts
related to rent or the disputed lease obligation have been recorded in these financial statements.

(b) On March 15, 2013, a former employee of the Company (VP-Operations) commenced an action in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta claiming
wrongful termination and seeking severance in an amount approximating US$185,000. On May 3, 2013, the Company reached a settlement with the
former employee and entered into a formal settlement and release of claims agreement. As consideration for full settlement and mutual release, the
Company agreed to issue the former employee 200,000 shares of common stock of the Company, valued at $0.40/share or $80,000, and a cash
payment of $50,000. The Company has accrued $130,000 as of April 30, 2013.
(c) Upon completion of the Share Exchange, the Company entered into a n Employment Agreement with Scot Cohen, the Company’s Executive
Chairman (the “Employment Agreement ”). Under the terms of the Employment Agreement, Mr. Cohen will be entitled to all earned but unpaid salary,
expense reimbursements, bonuses (if applicable), and any vested benefits, upon termination of the Employment Agreement by the Company for
cause, by Mr. Cohen without good reason, or upon the Employment Agreement’s expiration date in the event Mr. Cohen does not choose to renew his
contract. In the event Mr. Cohen’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause, upon a change in control of the company, or by Mr.
Cohen for good reason, he shall be entitled to any accrued obligations (detailed in the preceding sentence), severance in a single lump sum installment
in an amount equal to twice the sum of the base salary in effect on the termination date plus two times the maximum annual bonus for which Mr.
Cohen was eligible in the fiscal year in which the termination date occurred, a pro-rata portion of Mr. Cohen’s annual bonus for the fiscal year in
which the termination occurred, and a full vesting in the initial grant and in any and all previously granted outstanding equity-based incentive
awards subject to time-based vesting criteria.

14.

Subsequent Events:

In June and July of 2013, the Company signed a series of agreements with Jeffrey Freedman, former Chief Executive Officer, in relation to his departure from
the Company. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company has provided to Mr. Freedman the sum of $12,000 and options to purchase common stock with a
$100,000 aggregate fair market value (as “fair market value” is defined in the 2012 Equity Compensation Plan) as of the July 24, 2013 option grant date.
These options will expire on July 23, 2016.
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SIGNATURES
In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

PETRO RIVER OIL CORP.

By:
/s/ Scot Cohen
Name: Scot Cohen
Title: Executive Chairman
By:
/s/ David Briones
Name: David Briones
Title Chief Financial Officer
Date: August 28, 2013
40

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

POWER OF ATTORNEY

The registrant and each person whose signature appears below hereby appoint Scot Cohen as attorney-in-fact with full power of substitution, severally, to
execute in the name and on behalf of the registrant and each such person, individually and in each capacity stated below, one or more amendments to the
annual report which amendments may make such changes in the report as the attorney-in-fact acting deems appropriate and to file any such amendment to the
report with the US Securities and Exchange Commission.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Scot Cohen
Scot Cohen

Executive Chairman and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

August 28, 2013

/s/ David Briones
David Briones

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

August 28, 2013

/s/ Ruben Alba
Ruben Alba

Executive Vice President and Director

August 28, 2013

/s/ Daniel Smith
Daniel Smith

Executive Vice President and Director

August 28, 2013

/s/ Ryan Estis
Ryan Estis

Director

August 28, 2013

/s/ Glenn C. Pollack
Glenn C. Pollack

Director

August 28, 2013

/s/ John Wallace

Director

August 28, 2013

Director

August 28, 2013

John Wallace

/s/ Fred Zeidman
Fred Zeidman
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10.3(2)
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31.2*
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101.INS*
101.SCH*
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101.PRE*

Exhibit Description
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
Bylaws of the Company
Securities Purchase Agreement of Petro River Oil LLC, dated as of April 23, 2013, by and among Petro River Oil Corp., Petro River Oil,
LLC, the holders of outstanding secured promissory notes of Petro River Oil, LLC, the members of Petro River Oil, LLC and Mega

Partners 1 LLC
2012 Equity Compensation Plan
Employment Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2013, by and between Petro River Oil Corp. and Scot Cohen
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
Subsidiaries
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*

Attached hereto
(1) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 13, 2012.
(2) Incorporated by reference to our Form 6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 29, 2013.
(3) Incorporated by reference to our Form 20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2, 2012.
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CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
OF
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Adopted July 3, 2013

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Table of Contents
Page

1
1
2
2
2

I. INTRODUCTION
II. COMPLIANCE IS EVERYONE’S BUSINESS
III. YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE COMPANY AND ITS STOCKHOLDERS
A. General Standards of Conduct
B. Applicable Laws
C. Conflicts of Interest
(i) Employment/Outside Employment
(ii) Outside Directorships
(iii) Business Interests
(iv) Related Parties
(v) Other Situations
D. Corporate Opportunities
E. Protecting the Company’s Confidential Information
(i) Proprietary Information and Invention Agreement
(ii) Disclosure of Company Confidential Information
(iii) Requests by Regulatory Authorities
(iv) Company Spokespeople
F. Obligations Under Securities Laws- “Insider” Trading
G. Prohibition against Short Selling of Company Stock
H. Use of Company’s Assets

3

3
3
3
3
4
4

4

5
5
5
5
6
7
7
7
7
7
8
8
8
9
9

(i) General
(ii) Physical Access Control
(iii) Company Funds
(iv) Computers and Other Equipment
(v) Software
(vi) Electronic Usage
I. Maintaining and Managing Records
J. Records on Legal Hold
K. Payment Practices
(i) Accounting Practices

10
10
i

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

(ii) Political Contributions
(iii) Prohibition of Inducements
L. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
M. Export Controls
IV. RESPONSIBILITIES TO OUR CUSTOMERS AND OUR SUPPLIERS
A. Customer Relationships
B. Payments or Gifts from Others
C. Publications of Others
D. Handling the Confidential Information of Others
(i) Appropriate Nondisclosure Agreements
(ii) Need-to-Know
(iii) Notes and Reports
(iv) Competitive Information
E. Selecting Suppliers
F. Government Relations
G. Lobbying
H. Government Contracts
I. Free and Fair Competition
J. Industrial Espionage
V. WAIVERS
VI. DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS

10
10
10

11
11
11
11
12
12
12
12
13
13
13
13
14
14
14

15
15
15
16

VII. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
ii

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

I.

INTRODUCTION

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics helps ensure compliance with legal requirements and our standards of business conduct. This Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics applies to directors, officers and employees of Petro River Oil Corp. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “ Company ”). Therefore, all
directors, officers and employees of the Company are expected to read and understand this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, uphold these standards in
day-to-day activities, comply with all applicable policies and procedures, and ensure that all agents and contractors are aware of, understand and adhere to
these standards.
Because the principles described in this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are general in nature, you should also review all applicable Company policies
and procedures for more specific instruction, and contact the Human Resources Department if you have any questions.

Nothing in this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, in any Company policies and procedures, or in other related communications (verbal or written)
creates or implies an employment contract or term of employment.

We are committed to continuously reviewing and updating our policies and procedures. Therefore, this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is subject to
modification. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics supersedes all other such codes, policies, procedures, instructions, practices, rules or written or
verbal representations to the extent they are inconsistent.

Please sign the acknowledgment form at the end of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and return the form to the Human Resources Department
indicating that you have received, read, understand and agree to comply with the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
The signed acknowledgment form will be located in your personnel file.

II.

COMPLIANCE IS EVERYONE’S BUSINESS

Ethical business conduct is critical to our business. As a director, officer or employee, your responsibility is to respect and adhere to these practices. Many of
these practices reflect legal or regulatory requirements. Violations of these laws and regulations can create significant liability for you, the Company, its
directors, officers, and other employees.

Part of your job and ethical responsibility is to help enforce this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. You should be alert to possible violations and report
possible violations to the Human Resources Department.
You must cooperate in any internal or external investigations of possible violations.

Violations of law, this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or other Company policies or procedures should be reported to the Human Resources
Department. Violations of law, this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or other Company policies or procedures by Company directors, officers or
employees can lead to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
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Reprisal, threats, retribution or retaliation against any person who has in good faith reported a violation or a suspected violation of law, this Code of Business
Conduct or other Company policies, or against any person who is assisting in any investigation or process with respect to such a violation, is prohibited.

Violations of law, this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or other Company policies or procedures should be reported to the Human Resources
Department.

Violations of law, this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or other Company policies or procedures by Company directors, officers or employees can lead
to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

In all cases, if you are unsure about the appropriateness of an event or action, please seek assistance in interpreting the requirements of these practices by
contacting the Human Resources Department.
III.

YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE COMPANY AND ITS STOCKHOLDERS

A.

General Standards of Conduct

The Company expects all directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors to exercise good judgment to ensure the safety and welfare of employees, agents
and contractors and to maintain a cooperative, efficient, positive, harmonious and productive work environment and business organization. These standards
apply while working on our premises, at offsite locations where our business is being conducted, at Company-sponsored business and social events, or at any

other place where you are a representative of the Company. Directors, officers, employees, agents or contractors who engage in misconduct or whose
performance is unsatisfactory may be subject to corrective action, up to and including termination.

B.

Applicable Laws

All Company directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, rules and regulatory orders. Company
directors, officers and employees located outside of the United States must comply with laws, regulations, rules and regulatory orders of the United States,
including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.S. Export Control Act, in addition to applicable local laws. Each director, officer, employee, agent and
contractor must acquire appropriate knowledge of the requirements relating to his or her duties sufficient to enable him or her to recognize potential dangers and
to know when to seek advice from the Human Resources Department on specific Company policies and procedures. Violations of laws, regulations, rules and
orders may subject the director, officer, employee, agent or contractor to individual criminal or civil liability, as well as to discipline by the Company. Such
individual violations may also subject the Company to civil or criminal liability or the loss of business.
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C.

Conflicts of Interest

Each of us has a responsibility to the Company, our stockholders and each other. Although this duty does not prevent us from engaging in personal
transactions and investments, it does demand that we avoid situations where a conflict of interest might occur or appear to occur. The Company is subject to
scrutiny from many different individuals and organizations, and we should always strive to avoid even the appearance of impropriety.
What constitutes conflict of interest? A conflict of interest exists where the interests or benefits of one person or entity conflict with the interests or benefits of
the Company.
Examples include:
(i) Employment/Outside Employment . In consideration of your appointment or employment with the Company, you are expected to devote your full

attention to the business interests of the Company. You are prohibited from engaging in any activity that interferes with your performance or responsibilities to

the Company or is otherwise in conflict with or prejudicial to the Company. Our policies prohibit any director, officer or employee from accepting
simultaneous employment with a Company supplier, customer, developer or competitor, or from taking part in any activity that enhances or supports a
competitor’s position. Additionally, you must disclose to the Company any interest that you have that may conflict with the business of the Company. If you
have any questions on this requirement, you should contact your supervisor or the Human Resources Department.
(ii) Outside Directorships . It is a conflict of interest to serve as a director of any company that competes with the Company. Although you may serve as a

director of a Company supplier, customer, developer, or other business partner, our policy requires that you first obtain approval from the Company’s Board
of Directors before accepting a directorship. Any compensation you receive should be commensurate to your responsibilities.
Such approval may be conditioned upon the completion of specified actions.
(iii) Business Interests . If you are considering investing in a Company customer, supplier or competitor, you must first take great care to ensure that these

investments do not compromise your responsibilities to the Company. Many factors should be considered in determining whether a conflict exists, including
the size and nature of the investment; your ability to influence the Company’s decisions; your access to confidential information of the Company or of the
other company; and the nature of the relationship between the Company and the other company.
(iv) Related Parties . As a general rule, you should avoid conducting Company business with a relative or significant other, or with a business in which a
relative or significant other is associated in any significant role. Relatives include spouse, sister, brother, daughter, son, mother, father, grandparents, aunts,

uncles, nieces, nephews, cousins, step relationships, and in-laws. Significant others include persons living in a spousal (including same sex) or familial
fashion with an employee.

If such a related party transaction is unavoidable, you must fully disclose the nature of the related party transaction to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.
If determined to be material to the Company by the Chief Financial Officer, the Company’s Audit Committee must review and approve in writing in advance
such related party transactions. The most significant related party transactions, particularly those involving the Company’s directors or executive officers,

must be reviewed and approved in writing in advance by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company must report all such material related party
transactions under applicable accounting rules, federal securities laws, and SEC rules and regulations, and securities market rules. Any dealings with a
related party must be conducted in such a way that no preferential treatment is given to this business.
3
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The Company discourages the employment of relatives and significant others in positions or assignments within the same department and prohibits the
employment of such individuals in positions that have a financial dependence or influence (e.g., an auditing or control relationship, or a
supervisor/subordinate relationship). The purpose of this policy is to prevent the organizational impairment and conflicts that are a likely outcome of the
employment of relatives or significant others, especially in a supervisor/subordinate relationship. If a question arises about whether a relationship is covered
by this policy, the Human Resources Department is responsible for determining whether an applicant or transferee’s acknowledged relationship is covered by
this policy. The Human Resources Department shall advise all affected applicants and transferees of this policy. Willful withholding of information regarding
a prohibited relationship/reporting arrangement may be subject to corrective action, up to and including termination. If a prohibited relationship exists or
develops between two employees, the employee in the senior position must bring this to the attention of his/her supervisor. The Company retains the prerogative
to separate the individuals at the earliest possible time, either by reassignment or by termination, if necessary.
(v) Other Situations . Because other conflicts of interest may arise, it would be impractical to attempt to list all possible situations. If a proposed transaction
or situation raises any questions or doubts in your mind you should consult the Human Resources Department.

D.

Corporate Opportunities

Employees, officers and directors may not exploit for their own personal gain opportunities that are discovered through the use of corporate property,
information or position unless the opportunity is disclosed fully in writing to the Company’s Board of Directors and the Board of Directors declines to pursue
such opportunity.

E.

Protecting the Company’s Confidential Information

The Company’s confidential information is a valuable asset. The Company’s confidential information includes our database of customer contacts; details
regarding our equipment procurement sources; names and lists of customers, suppliers and employees; and financial information. This information is the
property of the Company and may be protected by patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws. All confidential information must be used for Company
business purposes only. Every director, officer, employee, agent and contractor must safeguard it.
THIS RESPONSIBILITY INCLUDES NOT DISCLOSING THE COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, SUCH AS INFORMATION
REGARDING THE COMPANY’S PRODUCTS OR BUSINESS, OVER THE INTERNET.
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You are also responsible for properly labeling any and all documentation shared with or correspondence sent to the Company’s Human Resources Department
or outside counsel as “Attorney-Client Privileged”. This responsibility includes the safeguarding, securing and proper disposal of confidential information in
accordance with the Company’s policy on Maintaining and Managing Records set forth in Section III.I of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. This

obligation extends to confidential information of third parties, which the Company has rightfully received under Non-Disclosure Agreements. See the
Company’s policy dealing with Handling Confidential Information of Others set forth in Section IV.D of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
(i) Proprietary Information and Invention Agreement . When you joined the Company, you may have signed an agreement to protect and hold confidential

the Company’s proprietary information. This agreement remains in effect for as long as you work for the Company and after you leave the Company. Under
this agreement, you may not disclose the Company’s confidential information to anyone or use it to benefit anyone other than the Company without the prior
written consent of an authorized Company officer.
(ii) Disclosure of Company Confidential Information . To further the Company’s business, from time to time our confidential information may be

disclosed to potential business partners. However, such disclosure should never be done without carefully considering its potential benefits and risks. If you
determine in consultation with your manager and other appropriate Company management that disclosure of confidential information is necessary, you must
then contact the Human Resources Department to ensure that an appropriate written nondisclosure agreement is signed prior to the disclosure. The Company
has standard nondisclosure agreements suitable for most disclosures. You must not sign a third party’s nondisclosure agreement or accept changes to the
Company’s standard nondisclosure agreements without review and approval by the Company’s Human Resources Department. In addition, all Company
materials that contain Company confidential information, including presentations, must be reviewed and approved by the Company’s Human Resources
Department prior to publication or use.

Furthermore, any employee publication or publicly made statement that might be perceived or construed as attributable to the Company, made outside the
scope of his or her employment with the Company, must be reviewed and approved in writing in advance by the Company’s Human Resources Department
and must include the Company’s standard disclaimer that the publication or statement represents the views of the specific author and not of the Company.
(iii) Requests by Regulatory Authorities . The Company and its directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors must cooperate with appropriate

government inquiries and investigations. In this context, however, it is important to protect the legal rights of the Company with respect to its confidential
information. All government requests for information, documents or investigative interviews must be referred to the Company’s Human Resources Department.
No financial information may be disclosed without the prior approval of the Chief Financial Officer.
(iv) Company Spokespeople . Specific policies have been established regarding who may communicate information to the press and the financial analyst

community. All inquiries or calls from the press and financial analysts should be referred to the Chief Financial Officer. The Company has designated its
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as official Company spokespeople for financial matters. The Company has designated its Chief Financial
Officer as the official Company spokesperson for marketing, technical and other such information. These designees are the only people who may
communicate with the press on behalf of the Company.
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F.

Obligations Under Securities Laws- “Insider” Trading

Obligations under the U.S. securities laws apply to everyone. In the normal course of business, officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors and
consultants of the Company may come into possession of significant, sensitive information. This information is the property of the Company -- you have
been entrusted with it. You may not profit from it by buying or selling securities yourself, or passing on the information to others to enable them to profit, or
for them to profit on your behalf. The purpose of this policy is both to inform you of your legal responsibilities and to make clear to you that the misuse of
sensitive information is contrary to Company policy and U.S. securities laws.
Insider trading is a crime, penalized by fines of up to $5,000,000 and 20 years in jail for individuals. In addition, the SEC may seek the imposition of a civil
penalty of up to three times the profits made or losses avoided from the trading. Insider traders must also disgorge any profits made, and are often subjected to
an injunction against future violations. Finally, insider traders may be subjected to civil liability in private lawsuits.
Employers and other controlling persons (including supervisory personnel) are also at risk under U.S. securities laws. Controlling persons may, among other
things, face penalties of the greater of $5,000,000 or three times the profits made or losses avoided by the trader if they recklessly fail to take preventive steps
to control insider trading.

Thus, it is important both to you and the Company that insider-trading violations not occur. You should be aware that stock market surveillance techniques
are becoming increasingly sophisticated, and the chance that U.S. federal or other regulatory authorities will detect and prosecute even small-level trading is
significant. Insider trading rules are strictly enforced, even in instances when the financial transactions seem small. You should contact the Chief Financial
Officer or the Human Resources Department if you are unsure as to whether or not you are free to trade.
The Company has imposed a trading blackout period on members of the Board of Directors, executive officers and certain designated employees who, as a
consequence of their position with the Company, are more likely to be exposed to material nonpublic information about the Company. These directors,
executive officers and employees generally may not trade in Company securities during the blackout periods.

For more details, and to determine if you are restricted from trading during trading blackout periods, you should review the Company’s Insider Trading
Compliance Program. You can request a copy of this policy from the Human Resources Department. You should take a few minutes to read the Insider
Trading Compliance Program carefully, paying particular attention to the specific policies and the potential criminal and civil liability and/or disciplinary
action for insider trading violations. Directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors of the Company who violate this Policy are also be subject to
disciplinary action by the Company, which may include termination of employment or of business relationship. All questions regarding the Company’s
Insider Trading Compliance Program should be directed to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or Human Resources Department.
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G.

Prohibition against Short Selling of Company Stock

No Company director, officer or other employee, agent or contractor may, directly or indirectly, sell any equity security, including derivatives, of the
Company if he or she (1) does not own the security sold, or (2) if he or she owns the security, does not deliver it against such sale (a “short sale against the
box”) within twenty days thereafter, or does not within five days after such sale deposit it in the mails or other usual channels of transportation. No Company
director, officer or other employee, agent or contractor may engage in short sales. A short sale, as defined in this policy, means any transaction whereby one
may benefit from a decline in the Company’s stock price. While securities law does not prohibit employees who are not executive officers or directors from
engaging in short sales of Company securities, the Company has adopted as policy that employees may not do so.

H.

Use of Company’s Assets

(i) General . Protecting the Company’s assets is a key fiduciary responsibility of every director, officer, employee, agent and contractor. Care should be taken

to ensure that assets are not misappropriated, loaned to others, or sold or donated, without appropriate authorization. All Company directors, officers,
employees, agents and contractors are responsible for the proper use of Company assets, and must safeguard such assets against loss, damage, misuse or
theft.

Directors, officers, employees, agents or contractors who violate any aspect of this policy or who demonstrate poor judgment in the manner in which they use
any Company asset may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment or business relationship at the Company’s sole
discretion. Company equipment and assets are to be used for Company business purposes only. Directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors may
not use Company assets for personal use, nor may they allow any other person to use Company assets. All questions regarding this policy should be brought
to the attention of the Company’s Human Resources Department.
(ii) Physical Access Control . The Company has and will continue to develop procedures covering physical access control to ensure the privacy of

communications, maintenance of the security of the Company’s communication equipment, and safeguard Company assets from theft, misuse and
destruction. You are personally responsible for complying with the level of access control that has been implemented in the facility where you work on a
permanent or temporary basis. You must not defeat or cause to be defeated the purpose for which the access control was implemented.
(iii) Company Funds . Every Company director, officer or employee is personally responsible for all Company funds over which he or she exercises control.

Company agents and contractors should not be allowed to exercise control over Company funds. Company funds must be used only for Company business
purposes. Every Company director, officer, employee, agent and contractor must take reasonable steps to ensure that the Company receives good value for
Company funds spent, and must maintain accurate and timely records of each and every expenditure. Expense reports must be accurate and submitted in a
timely manner. Company directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors must not use Company funds for any personal purpose.
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(iv) Computers and Other Equipment . The Company strives to furnish directors, officers and employees with the equipment necessary to efficiently and

effectively do their jobs. You must care for that equipment and use it responsibly only for Company business purposes. If you use Company equipment at
your home or off site, take precautions to protect it from theft or damage, just as if it were your own. If the Company no longer employs you, you must
immediately return all Company equipment. While computers and other electronic devices are made accessible to directors, officers and employees to assist
them to perform their jobs and to promote Company’s interests, all such computers and electronic devices, whether used entirely or partially on the
Company’s premises or with the aid of the Company’s equipment or resources, must remain fully accessible to the Company and, to the maximum extent
permitted by law, will remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company.
Directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors should not maintain any expectation of privacy with respect to information transmitted over, received
by, or stored in any electronic communications device owned, leased, or operated in whole or in part by or on behalf of the Company. To the extent permitted
by applicable law, the Company retains the right to gain access to any information received by, transmitted by, or stored in any such electronic
communications device, by and through its directors, officers, employees, agents, contractors, or representatives, at any time, either with or without a
director’s, officer’s, employee’s or third party’s knowledge, consent or approval.
(v) Software. All software used by directors, officers and employees to conduct Company business must be appropriately licensed. Never make or use illegal
or unauthorized copies of any software, whether in the office, at home, or on the road, since doing so may constitute copyright infringement and may expose
you and the Company to potential civil and criminal liability. In addition, use of illegal or unauthorized copies of software may subject the director, officer and
employee to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. The Company’s IT Department will inspect Company computers periodically to verify that
only approved and licensed software has been installed. Any non-licensed/supported software will be removed.
(vi) Electronic Usage . The purpose of this policy is to make certain that directors, officers and employees utilize electronic communication devices in a legal,

ethical, and appropriate manner. This policy addresses the Company’s responsibilities and concerns regarding the fair and proper use of all electronic
communications devices within the organization, including computers, e-mail, connections to the Internet, intranet and extranet and any other public or private
networks, voice mail, video conferencing, facsimiles, and telephones. Posting or discussing information concerning the Company’s products or business on
the Internet without the prior written consent of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer is prohibited. Any other form of electronic communication used by
directors, officers or employees currently or in the future is also intended to be encompassed under this policy. It is not possible to identify every standard and
rule applicable to the use of electronic communications devices. Directors, officers and employees are therefore encouraged to use sound judgment whenever
using any feature of our communications systems. You are expected to review, understand and follow such policies and procedures.
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I.

Maintaining and Managing Records

The purpose of this policy is to set forth and convey the Company’s business and legal requirements in managing records, including all recorded information,
regardless of medium or characteristics. Records include paper documents, CDs, computer hard disks, email, floppy disks, microfiche, microfilm or all

other media. Local, state, federal, foreign and other applicable laws, rules and regulations to retain certain records and to follow specific guidelines in
managing its records require the Company to comply with such mandates. Civil and criminal penalties for failure to comply with such guidelines can be
severe for directors, officers, employees, agents, contractors and the Company, and failure to comply with such guidelines may subject the director, officer,
employee, agent or contractor to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment or business relationship at the Company’s sole discretion.
All original executed documents that evidence contractual commitments or other obligations of the Company must be forwarded to the Human Resources
Department promptly upon completion. Such documents will be maintained and retained in accordance with the Company’s record retention policies.

J.

Records on Legal Hold.

A legal hold suspends all document destruction procedures in order to preserve appropriate records under special circumstances, such as litigation or
government investigations. The Company’s Human Resources Department determines and identifies what types of Company records or documents are
required to be placed under a legal hold. Every Company director, officer, employee, agent and contractor must comply with this policy. Failure to comply
with this policy may subject the director, officer, employee, agent or contractor to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment or
business relationship at the Company’s sole discretion.

The Company’s Human Resources Department will notify you if a legal hold is placed on records for which you are responsible. You then must preserve and
protect the necessary records in accordance with instructions from the Company’s Human Resources Department.

RECORDS OR SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN PLACED UNDER A LEGAL HOLD MUST NOT BE DESTROYED,
ALTERED OR MODIFIED UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES.
A legal hold remains effective until it is officially released in writing by the Company’s Human Resources Department.

If you are unsure whether a document has been placed under a legal hold, you should preserve and protect that document while you check with the Company’s
Human Resources Department. If you have any questions about this policy you should contact the Company’s Human Resources Department.
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K.

Payment Practices

(i) Accounting Practices. The Company’s responsibilities to its stockholders and the investing public require that all transactions be fully and accurately

recorded in the Company’s books and records in compliance with all applicable laws. False or misleading entries, unrecorded funds or assets, or payments
without appropriate supporting documentation and approval are strictly prohibited and violate Company policy and the law.

Additionally, all documentation supporting a transaction should fully and accurately describe the nature of the transaction and be processed in a timely
fashion.
(ii) Political Contributions . The Company reserves the right to communicate its position on important issues to elected representatives and other government

officials. It is the Company’s policy to comply fully with all local, state, federal, foreign and other applicable laws, rules and regulations regarding political
contributions. The Company’s funds or assets must not be used for, or be contributed to, political campaigns or political practices under any circumstances
without the prior written approval of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and, if required, the Board of Directors.
(iii) Prohibition of Inducements . Under no circumstances may directors, officers, employees, agents or contractors offer to pay, make payment, promise to

pay, or issue authorization to pay any money, gift, or anything of value to customers, vendors, consultants, or any other party, that is perceived as intended,
directly or indirectly, to improperly influence any business decision, any act or failure to act, any commitment of fraud, or opportunity for the commission of
any fraud. Inexpensive gifts, infrequent business meals, celebratory events and entertainment, provided that they are not excessive or create an appearance of
impropriety, do not violate this policy. Questions regarding whether a particular payment or gift violates this policy should be directed to the Human Resources
Department.

L.

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

The Company requires full compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) by all of its directors, officers, employees, agents, and contractors.

The anti-bribery and corrupt payment provisions of the FCPA make illegal any corrupt offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization to pay any money,
gift, or anything of value to any foreign official, or any foreign political party, candidate or official, for the purpose of influencing any act or failure to act, in
the official capacity of that foreign official or party, or inducing the foreign official or party to use influence to affect a decision of a foreign government or
agency, in order to obtain or retain business for anyone, or direct business to anyone.
All Company directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors whether located in the United States or abroad, are responsible for FCPA compliance and
the procedures to ensure FCPA compliance.
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All managers and supervisory personnel are expected to monitor continued compliance with the FCPA to ensure compliance with the highest moral, ethical and
professional standards of the Company. FCPA compliance includes the Company’s policy on Maintaining and Managing Records in Section III.I of this Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Laws in most countries outside of the United States also prohibit or restrict government officials or employees of government agencies from receiving
payments, entertainment, or gifts for the purpose of winning or keeping business. No contract or agreement may be made with any business in which a
government official or employee holds a significant interest, without the prior approval of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.

M.

Export Controls

A number of countries maintain controls on the destinations to which products or software may be exported. Some of the strictest export controls are
maintained by the United States against countries that the U.S. government considers unfriendly or as supporting international terrorism. The U.S.
regulations are complex and apply both to exports from the United States and to exports of products from other countries, when those products contain U.S.origin components or technology. In some circumstances, an oral presentation containing technical data made to foreign nationals in the United States may
constitute a controlled export. The Human Resources Department can provide you with guidance on which countries are prohibited destinations for Company
products or whether a proposed technical presentation to foreign nationals may require a U.S. Government license.

IV.

RESPONSIBILITIES TO OUR CUSTOMERS AND OUR SUPPLIERS

A.

Customer Relationships

If your job puts you in contact with any Company customers or potential customers, it is critical for you to remember that you represent the Company to the
people with whom you are dealing. Act in a manner that creates value for our customers and helps to build a relationship based upon trust. The Company and
its employees have provided products and services for many years and have built up significant goodwill over that time. This goodwill is one of our most
important assets, and the Company employees, agents and contractors must act to preserve and enhance our reputation.

B.

Payments or Gifts from Others

Under no circumstances may directors, officers, employees, agents or contractors accept any offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization to pay any
money, gift, or anything of value from customers, vendors, consultants, or any other party, that is perceived as intended, directly or indirectly, to influence
any business decision, any act or failure to act, any commitment of fraud, or opportunity for the commission of any fraud. Inexpensive gifts, infrequent
business meals, celebratory events and entertainment, provided that they are not excessive or create an appearance of impropriety, do not violate this policy.
Questions regarding whether a particular payment or gift violates this policy are to be directed to the Human Resources Department.

Gifts given by the Company to suppliers or customers or received from suppliers or customers should always be appropriate to the circumstances and should
never be of a kind that could create an appearance of impropriety. The nature and cost must always be accurately recorded in the Company’s books and
records.
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C.

Publications of Others

The Company subscribes to many publications that help directors, officers and employees do their jobs better. These include newsletters, reference works,
online reference services, magazines, books, and other digital and printed works. Copyright law generally protects these works, and their unauthorized
copying and distribution constitute copyright infringement. You must first obtain the consent of the publisher of a publication before copying publications or
significant parts of them. When in doubt about whether you may copy a publication, consult the Human Resources Department.

D.

Handling the Confidential Information of Others

The Company has many kinds of business relationships with many companies and individuals. Sometimes, they will volunteer confidential information
about their products or business plans to induce the Company to enter into a business relationship. At other times, we may request that a third party provide
confidential information to permit the Company to evaluate a potential business relationship with that party. Whatever the situation, we must take special care
to handle the confidential information of others responsibly. We handle such confidential information in accordance with our agreements with such third
parties. See also the Company’s policy on Maintaining and Managing Records in Section III.I of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
(i) Appropriate Nondisclosure Agreements . Confidential information may take many forms. An oral presentation about a company’s product development

plans may contain protected trade secrets. A customer list or employee list may be a protected trade secret. A demo of an alpha version of a company’s new
software may contain information protected by trade secret and copyright laws.

You should never accept information offered by a third party that is represented as confidential, or which appears from the context or circumstances to be
confidential, unless an appropriate nondisclosure agreement has been signed with the party offering the information.

THE HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT CAN PROVIDE NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENTS TO FIT ANY PARTICULAR
SITUATION, AND WILL COORDINATE APPROPRIATE EXECUTION OF SUCH AGREEMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY.
Even after a nondisclosure agreement is in place, you should accept only the information necessary to accomplish the purpose of receiving it, such as a
decision on whether to proceed to negotiate a deal. If more detailed or extensive confidential information is offered and it is not necessary, for your immediate
purposes, it should be refused.
(ii) Need-to-Know . Once a third party’s confidential information has been disclosed to the Company, we have an obligation to abide by the terms of the

relevant nondisclosure agreement and limit its use to the specific purpose for which it was disclosed and to disseminate it only to other Company employees
with a need to know the information. Every director, officer, employee, agent and contractor involved in a potential business relationship with a third party
must understand and strictly observe the restrictions on the use and handling of confidential information. When in doubt, consult the Human Resources
Department.
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(iii) Notes and Reports . When reviewing the confidential information of a third party under a nondisclosure agreement, it is natural to take notes or prepare

reports summarizing the results of the review and, based partly on those notes or reports, to draw conclusions about the suitability of a business relationship.
Notes or reports, however, can include confidential information disclosed by the other party and so should be retained only long enough to complete the
evaluation of the potential business relationship. Subsequently, they should be either destroyed or turned over to the Human Resources Department for
safekeeping or destruction. They should be treated just as any other disclosure of confidential information is treated: marked as confidential and distributed
only to those the Company employees with a need to know.
(iv) Competitive Information . You should never attempt to obtain a competitor’s confidential information by improper means, and you should especially
never contact a competitor regarding their confidential information. While the Company may, and does, employ former employees of competitors, we recognize
and respect the obligations of those employees not to use or disclose the confidential information of their former employers.

E.

Selecting Suppliers

The Company’s suppliers make significant contributions to our success. To create an environment where our suppliers have an incentive to work with the
Company, they must be confident that they will be treated lawfully and in an ethical manner. The Company’s policy is to purchase supplies based on need,
quality, service, price and terms and conditions. The Company’s policy is to select significant suppliers or enter into significant supplier agreements through a
competitive bid process where possible. Under no circumstances should any Company director, officer, employee, agent or contractor attempt to coerce
suppliers in any way. The confidential information of a supplier is entitled to the same protection as that of any other third party and must not be received
before an appropriate nondisclosure agreement has been signed. A supplier’s performance should never be discussed with anyone outside the Company. A
supplier to the Company is generally free to sell its products or services to any other party, including competitors of the Company. In some cases where the
products or services have been designed, fabricated, or developed to our specifications the agreement between the parties may contain restrictions on sales.

F.

Government Relations

It is the Company’s policy to comply fully with all applicable laws and regulations governing contact and dealings with government employees and public
officials, and to adhere to high ethical, moral and legal standards of business conduct. This policy includes strict compliance with all local, state, federal,
foreign and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
If you have any questions concerning government relations you should contact the Company’s Human Resources Department.
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G.

Lobbying

Directors, officers, employees, agents or contractors whose work requires lobbying communication with any member or employee of a legislative body or with
any government official or employee in the formulation of legislation must have prior written approval of such activity from the Company’s Human Resources

Department. Activities covered by this policy includes meetings with legislators or members of their staffs or with senior executive branch officials.
Preparation, research, and other background activities that are done in support of lobbying communication are also covered by this policy even if the
communication ultimately is not made.

H.

Government Contracts

It is the Company’s policy to comply fully with all applicable laws and regulations that apply to government contracting. It is also necessary to strictly adhere
to all terms and conditions of any contract with local, state, federal, foreign or other applicable governments.
The Company’s Human Resources Department must review and approve all contracts with any government entity.

I.

Free and Fair Competition

Most countries have well-developed bodies of law designed to encourage and protect free and fair competition. The Company is committed to obeying both the
letter and spirit of these laws. The consequences of not doing so can be severe for all of us.

These laws often regulate the Company’s relationships with its distributors, resellers, dealers, and customers. Competition laws generally address the
following areas: pricing practices (including price discrimination), discounting, terms of sale, credit terms, promotional allowances, secret rebates, exclusive
dealerships or distributorships, product bundling, restrictions on carrying competing products, termination, and many other practices.
Competition laws also govern, usually quite strictly, relationships between the Company and its competitors. As a general rule, contacts with competitors
should be limited and should always avoid subjects such as prices or other terms and conditions of sale, customers, and suppliers. Employees, agents or
contractors of the Company may not knowingly make false or misleading statements regarding its competitors or the products of its competitors, customers or
suppliers. Participating with competitors in a trade association or in a standards creation body is acceptable when the association has been properly
established, has a legitimate purpose, and has limited its activities to that purpose.
No director, officer, employee, agent or contractor shall at any time or under any circumstances enter into an agreement or understanding, written or oral,
express or implied, with any competitor concerning prices, discounts, other terms or conditions of sale, profits or profit margins, costs, allocation of product
or geographic markets, allocation of customers, limitations on production, boycotts of customers or suppliers, or bids or the intent to bid or even discuss or
exchange information on these subjects. In some cases, legitimate joint ventures with competitors may permit exceptions to these rules as may bona fide
purchases from, or sales to, competitors on non-competitive products, but the Company’s Human Resources Department must review all such proposed
ventures in advance. These prohibitions are absolute and strict observance is required.
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Collusion among competitors is illegal, and the consequences of a violation are severe. Although the spirit of these laws, known as “antitrust,” “competition,”
or “consumer protection” or unfair competition laws, is straightforward, their application to particular situations can be quite complex. To ensure that the
Company complies fully with these laws, each of us should have a basic knowledge of them and should involve our Human Resources Department early on
when questionable situations arise.

J.

Industrial Espionage

It is the Company’s policy to lawfully compete in the marketplace. This commitment to fairness includes respecting the rights of our competitors and abiding
by all applicable laws in the course of competing. The purpose of this policy is to maintain the Company’s reputation as a lawful competitor and to help
ensure the integrity of the competitive marketplace. The Company expects its competitors to respect our rights to compete lawfully in the marketplace, and we
must respect their rights equally. Company directors, officers, employees, agents and contractors may not steal or unlawfully use the information, material,
products, intellectual property, or proprietary or confidential information of anyone including suppliers, customers, business partners or competitors.

V.

WAIVERS

Any waiver of any provision of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for a member of the Company’s Board of Directors or an executive officer must be
approved in writing by the Company’s Board of Directors and promptly disclosed to the Company’s stockholders, along with the reasons for the waiver. Any
waiver of any provision of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics with respect any other employee, agent or contractor must be approved in writing by the
Company’s Human Resources Department.

VI.

DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS

The matters covered in this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are of the utmost importance to the Company, its stockholders and its business partners,
and are essential to the Company’s ability to conduct its business in accordance with its stated values. We expect all of our directors, officers, employees,
agents, contractors and consultants to adhere to these rules in carrying out their duties for the Company.

The Company will take appropriate action against any director, officer, employee, agent, contractor or consultant whose actions are found to violate these
policies or any other policies of the Company. Disciplinary actions may include immediate termination of employment or business relationship at the
Company’s sole discretion. Where the Company has suffered a loss, it may pursue its remedies against the individuals or entities responsible. Where laws
have been violated, the Company will cooperate fully with the appropriate authorities.
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VII.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

I have received and read the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. I understand the standards and policies contained in the Company Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics and understand that there may be additional policies or laws specific to my job. I further agree to comply with the Company
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

If I have questions concerning the meaning or application of the Company Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, any Company policies, or the legal and
regulatory requirements applicable to my job, I know I can consult my manager, the Human Resources Department, knowing that my questions or reports to
these sources will be maintained in confidence. I acknowledge that I may report violations of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to the Human
Resources Department.

Director, Officer or Employee Name
Date:

Please sign and return this form to the Human Resources Department.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Scot Cohen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Petro River Oil Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: August 28, 2013

By:

Source: Petro River Oil Corp., 10-K, August 28, 2013

/s/ Scot Cohen
Scot Cohen
Executive Chairman
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David Briones , certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Petro River Oil Corp..;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: August 28, 2013

By:
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of Petro River Oil Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013 (the “ Form 10-K ”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.

Date: August 28, 2013

/s/ Scot Cohen
Scot Cohen
Executive Chairman

/s/ David Briones
David Briones
Chief Financial Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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